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Our Oslo office is located at Lysaker, a flourishing corporate district.

From the beginning, NattoPharma has been sponsor-
ing research proving MenaQ7’s benefits for human 
health. Published human studies confirm this in both 
children and adults. Yet the work continues, with even 
more studies underway.

We’re not just looking to the future, we aim to shape 
it. NattoPharma is creating superior products, backed 
by science, meeting the needs of an ever-changing 
market. With reputable, visionary partners around the 
world, we are well on our way to reinforce the state of 
global health.

As the undisputed leader in clinical understanding 
and science, NattoPharma’s ongoing investment in 
ground-breaking research allows us to identify novel 
health benefits and open up new market opportuni-
ties for our partners. This investment has made our 
brand the first validated K2 on the market.

The Story of 
NattoPharma

The discovery of a vitamin led to the creation of a com-
pany, NattoPharma, that plans to change the world.

Researchers discovered those who eat a lot of a Vi-
tamin K2 have stronger bones and more flexible ar-
teries, ultimately enjoying healthier lives. By creating 
MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 as MK-7 we have driven this dis-
covery, providing a vital nutrient to the world.

NattoPharma seek to advance global health by creat-
ing scientifically validated products and technologies 
that deliver measurable benefits. We are a sought-af-
ter partner because of our unwavering commitment 
to validated quality.

NattoPharma continues to build its competitive advan-
tage through focus on IPR and has patents related to 
relevant health benefits and market segments, creat-
ing extra value for our customers.

Health
in Focus
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214.5 37.369%

Operating Revenue EBITDA (Adj.)Revenue Growth

25.4 68.6 71.1%

Cash Flow from Operations Net Profit Equity Ratio

2020 2019 2018 2017*) 2016*)

Revenues (NOK 1000)

Sales Revenue 214 468 127 119 101 722 66 418 51 830 

Earnings (NOK 1000)

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA 
(Adj.))

37 284 8 200 6 652 5 269 484 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 32 922 7 469 5 070 2 758 -1 464 

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) 21 547 -479 -2 208 -4 606 -8 361 

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 44 054 -14 131 1 047 -4 759 -11 159 

Earnings After Tax 68 592 -13 696 1 677 -4 080 -10 503 

Profitability

Gross Margin Sales Revenue 42.6% 40.0% 43.1% 47.3% 44.2%

EBITDA (Adj.) Margin 17.4% 6.5% 6.5% 7.9% 0.9%

EBITDA Margin 15.4% 5.9% 5.0% 4.2% -2.8%

Profit Margin 32.0% -10.8% 1.6% -6.2% -20.3%

Return on Equity (ROE) 37.7% -13.5% 1.5% -3.7% -13.8%

Cash Flow from Operations (NOK 1000) 25 411 6 366 6 488 -11 229 -4 937 

Net Cash Flow (NOK 1000) 27 866 -4 036 5 096 -6 260 -4 943 

Balance Sheet (NOK 1000)

Total Assets 255 687 160 478 147 324 157 193 96 347 

Equity 181 914 101 342 109 742 111 004 76 207 

Equity Ratio 71.1% 63.2% 74.5 % 70.6% 79.1%

Cash Balance 42 485 14 619 18 655 13 558 19 818 

Interest-Bearing Debt 7 588 6 000 0 0 0

The Share

Share Price at December 31st (NOK) 18.20 7.50 8.10 9.10 9.09 

Number of Issued Shares as at December 31st (NOK 1000) 19 843 18 180 18 180 18 130 17 570 

Market Value (NOK 1000) 361 150 136 349 147 257 164 982 159 711 

Earnings per Share (NOK) 3.62 -0.75 0.09 -0.23 -0.60 

Diluted Earnings per Share (NOK) 3.55 -0.75 0.09 -0.23 -0.60 

*) Pro-forma after spin-off of pharma business into Kaydence Pharma AS in 2017.

EBITDA (Adj.) (NOK mill.)

All amounts in NOK mill.

Key Figures

Operating Revenue (NOK mill.)
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Another Strong Year of 
Growth and Profitability

This performance is a stellar achievement made pos-
sible by having the support from a great team of ded-
icated employees, excellent and strong partnerships 
with our customers and suppliers and of course, the 
best, only clinically validated, product in the market of 
vitamin K2.

Natural products continued to be the primary growth 
category through all of 2020, and we see a similar pat-
tern in 2021.

Increased global awareness of healthy living and the 
importance of having a sufficient level of vitamin K2 
in the body contribute to the robust growth curve we 
have seen throughout the year.

NattoPharma was the first company to bring vitamin 
K2 to market. Since creating this category, the market 
and rival landscape have grown. Our science is the 
basis for all industry claims about the benefits of vi-
tamin K2, including the claims made by rival K2 sup-
pliers. This critical focus on science among the indus-
try noise in the growing market is getting lost. We will 
expand the scientific agenda on vitamin K2 thanks to 
increased investment in both upstream research and 
clinical trials exploring new benefits.

In the future, driving education and awareness around 
the increased clinically proven benefits of vitamin K2 
supplementation will continue to be a foundation of 
NattoPharma. These efforts will increase the demand 
for our customer’s quality products. The expanded 
investment in research will make those efforts even 
more compelling.

Dear shareholders, valued partners, and dedicated 
employees - thank you for contributing to the positive 
developments NattoPharma has been experiencing 
during the last year. We have taken a significant step 
forward to grow the understanding and adoption of 
vitamin K2 as an essential supplement to our diet.

NattoPharma continues to lead clinical validation and 
consumer education to demonstrate the importance 
of vitamin K2 in the diet. We aim to continue driving 
K2 science and understanding, increasing consumer 
awareness and adoption through continued strong re-
lationships with the scientific community.

The pandemic hit the world with a second wave to-
wards the end of 2020 and continues to do so in 2021. 
Our focus through this period has been on safeguard-
ing operations and employees, including their families, 
to support our valued customers in these challenging 
times. At the same time, we see the market for our 
business continues to grow. The widespread attention 
to health and the importance of staying healthy is in-
creasing within the general population. We believe this 
is a shift that will continue and impact the markets we 
operate. We are well-positioned when this pandemic 
is behind us, and life again normalizes for us all.

As in previous years, we see our fourth-quarter being 
the most substantial period of the year. And with the 
strong performance in the last quarter of 2020, our 
full-year revenue came in at NOK 214.5 million, up 
from NOK 127.1 million vs. the previous year repre-
senting a 68.7% growth compared to 2019.

A continued strong effort from the team drives stellar performance during 
turbulent times.

We are confident that consumer awareness of the 
many benefits of vitamin K2 will only continue to grow. 
We anticipate a rapidly growing market, and we are 
convinced that our offering will undeniably appeal to 
our customers in the future. 

We expect vitamin K2 to grow at a double-digit rate 
in the next few years, fueled by the rise in demand 
from consumers understanding the health benefits of 
vitamin K2, including the evidence beyond just bone 
and heart health. Our mission is to continue to be the 
driver of the science in the K2 segment and uncover 
further science-backed benefits.

COVID-19 forced our team to re-think communication 
with our partners, and this digital transformation has 
contributed to positive results in 2020. Face-to-face 
meetings will never be obsolete, and we look forward 
to meeting our good friends and colleagues in the in-
dustry again in 2021 when the world opens for travel 
between countries and continents.

During this last period, NattoPharma has been execut-
ing its marketing initiatives to remain at the forefront 
of the industry, which resulted in excellent coverage to 
support our sales efforts.

By adding resources to the marketing department, we 
strengthened our ability to communicate and collab-
orate with partners. In January 2021, we kicked-off a 
NattoPharma brand-lift project. This brand-lift aims at 
helping customers better understand our brand iden-
tity and how it ties back to our history, values, and as-
pirations.

The same marketing momentum can be seen in our 
digital presence, new NattoPharma logo and revised 
website, launching in May. 

We continue to build on our portfolio of patents and 
intellectual property rights. Patent applications are be-
ing processed, and new ones are being filed to defend 
all technological investments and efforts.
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This new alliance will strengthen our goal of providing 
brand owners the confidence that their products will 
deliver promised health benefits through our ironclad 
science portfolio and the ability to offer claims that will 
gain attention on crowded shelves.

We are excited about the significant potential impact 
from an R&D perspective. Both companies will work 
collaboratively to explore further the K2 benefits and 
leverage Lesaffre’s scale to invest in further clinical tri-
als.  

NattoPharma will continue operating with its HQ in 
Norway and staff across Europe, Asia, and the United 
States. We have recently expanded our site and team 
to accommodate the increased demand. We will of-
fer the same high-level quality and service customers 
have always enjoyed and expected.     

By committing to our partners’ success, we believe 
consumers will benefit from getting the only clinical-
ly validated K2 on the market profoundly and help us 
obtain our goal to improve human health. Also, we will 
continue to provide brand owners improved resourc-
es around formulation processes and the assets they 
need to market their finished products successfully.  

Joining forces with Lesaffre will not add any significant 
challenges and will only heighten our ambitions.   

However, independent of this deal, a challenge we face 
is the continued education of brand owners and con-
sumers to ensure they receive the correct information. 
From our science-backed and clinically validated back-
ground, that is to say, and not rely on the sometimes 
misleading information from other industry suppliers 
with less or no science background or any clinical vali-
dation for their products. 

Our mission will remain committed to providing clin-
ically validated ingredients with measurable ben-
efits to extend lifespan and improve the quality of 
good health within it. 

We have also acquired a portfolio of patent applica-
tions previously owned by VitaK BV in the Netherlands. 
This portfolio contains several interesting patent appli-
cations that potentially will be valuable in the work that 
Kaydence has been doing to register a pharmaceutical 
drug candidate for vitamin K2.

On July 1st, we announced the grant of research fund-
ing estimated to be NOK 15 million from the Norwe-
gian Research Council, enabling us to start a multi-
year R&D project to strengthen our leading position 
in the global K2 industry. We cannot share too many 
details about the project at this stage due to trade se-
crets. Still, we are incredibly excited about the oppor-
tunity this provides us with, as the expected results 
from this project will be of high value to the company 
in the years to come. With the support provided by the 
Research Council, we will recover most of the project’s 
external cost, reducing the impact on our cash flow in 
the period compared to our everyday operations.

In 2021, on March 23rd, Lesaffre announced the com-
pletion of their voluntary offer to acquire shares in 
NattoPharma, where they have received acceptances 
bringing them to ownership of more than 76% of the 
company.

We believe combining forces with Lesaffre will expand 
the scientific agenda on vitamin K2 thanks to increased 
investment in both upstream research and clinical 
trials exploring new benefits. Also, we believe there 
would be potential attractive synergies with other 
products in the Gnosis by Lesaffre portfolio. The com-
bined entities will promote both natural and synthetic 
forms to meet both existing and prospective custom-
ers’ needs. This dual approach will enable a shift in the 
debate back to clinical evidence and health benefits.
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NattoPharma Brand
Update
Look for the new NattoPharma logo and website launching in May.

IKIGAI 生き甲斐 /ˈɪkɪɡʌɪ/ /ˈiːkɪɡʌɪ/ 

Japanese concept meaning "a purpose for being".  

THE PHILOSOPHY

The Japanese IKIGAI philosophy is an ideal frame-
work to express our Brand “purpose for being” and 
Brand Identity. 

Each of the 4 quadrants support the NattoPharma 
founders’ original passion for finding a natural solu-
tion for improved bone and heart health through 
science. 

Pantone 569 C     43 - 127 - 111

THE NEW SYMBOL

The new symbol was born out of the Ikigai core shape, where the two links represent: 

• You and NattoPharma 
• Science and Partnership  

As the only K2 supplier who can provide you with validated human clinical studies to back health claims for 
our MenaQ7 K2 products, we like to see the new symbol also resembling a compass, depicting NattoPharma 
as your K2 guide .

Pantone 1945 C     168 - 17 - 74

THE NEW TAGLINE

The new tagline simply states what we experience: You’ll come for the science, but you’ll stay for the partner-
ship.  

We earn Customers trust because they know we created the category and continue to lead the science.  

But it is the value we add to the Partnership helping our Customers succeed that makes the relationship so 
awesome .

Pantone 874 C     147 - 112 - 75

WHAT’S STAYING THE SAME

• Our purpose-led commitment to provide you with increasingly better tools, knowledge, marketing, and 
product support, as if we were your own personal “back-office”.

• The only company to offer clinical support to deliver the health claims you need to confidently deliver on 
your promise to consumers.

• Supply of the most comprehensive Vitamin K2 portfolio – both natural fermented and nature-identical 
synthesis in various dilutions and solubilities.

• Personal support with portfolio flexibility to help you bring your product ideas to life.

Pantone 1385 C     204 - 112 - 1

Come for the Science. Stay for the partnership.TM
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Few realise the impact that calcium has on our bone 
and heart health. We all assume calcium goes directly 
to our bones, making them stronger. However, calcium 
requires assistance making its way where it is needed. 
Without guidance, rogue calcium instead deposits in 
arteries, blood vessels, and soft tissues, increasing our 
risk of developing cardiovascular issues.

Vitamin K2 is the key to ensuring our bodies proper-
ly utilize calcium. In doing so, K2 simultaneously sup-
ports both bone and cardiovascular health.

Quite simply, Vitamin K2 activates proteins already 
present in the body to improve functional equilibrium 
of bone and heart health.

But these proteins are only activated to fulfill their 
roles if the body has enough Vitamin K2 daily. And it 
is near impossible to get enough K2 from diet alone – 
even those consuming healthy diets.

Achieving this balance is imperative, yet with the cur-
rent state of bone and cardiovascular health, it is clear 
too few have.

Poor bone metabolism is a condition characterized by 
loss of bone mineral density, which leads to bone that 
is weaker and more susceptible to fractures.

Compromised bone and cardiovascular health are not simply age-related 
issues. Rather, they are a clear indication of a Vitamin K2 deficiency. 

Yet NattoPharma has been working tirelessly to 
change these statistics and bring a life-changing solu-
tion to the world. Not only has the Company’s clinical 
research confirmed the mechanism of Vitamin K2, but 
it has also revealed that K2 impacts cardiovascular 
health in a way that no other drug or compound has 
been able to: K2 actually helps make arteries more 
flexible through the activation of MGP.

The International Osteoporosis Foundation reports 
that 200 million women have low bone density – that 
is more than the combined population of Germany, 
the United Kingdom, and France.

Atherosclerosis is a condition characterized by plaque 
buildup in artery walls that causes them to stiffen, im-
peding blood flow. This newly recognised marker of 
cardiovascular health is attributed to 360 000 deaths 
each year.

Further, NattoPharma, as the Vitamin K2 world leader 
offering the only clinically validated and patented K2 
as MK-7, has made it its mission to illuminate the state 
of K2 deficiency, and explain how correcting this defi-
ciency can truly improve global health.

VITAMIN K1

Stored and active in the liver
Helps blood coagulation

Supplied by normal western diet

VITAMIN K2

Active in the cardiovascular system
Helps reduce risk of heart disease

Helps reduce bone mass loss

97% of people eating a modern diet
are deficient in vitamin K2

BIODISTRIBUTION OF 

Vitamin K
K2 is the Link to Better 
Heart and Bone Health
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Evidence Shows K2
Is a proven mechanism impacting health conditions beyond bone & cardio-
vascular, including:

Pulmonary Health Joint Health Kidney Health

Brain Health Eye Health Dental Health

The Vitamin K2 Market 
is Growing Fast 
The vitamin K2 market has a long way to grow, is growing fast and has been 
accelerated by COVID-19.

During 
COVID-19

28%
Of consumers increased

supplement usage

2x
Increase in Vitamin K2
usage in USA, Europe

People who would benefit from K2

People who currently take Omega-3

People who currently take Vitamin K2

Source: 
Ingredient Transparency Center 

(Vitamin K Category Enhanced Report)

K2 was associated with heart & bone health

Originally

Evidence shows K2 is associated
with increasingly more areas of health

Now

Source: 
https://www.vitamink2.org

/?benefit=vitamin-k2-status-and-health-concerns
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Sustainability

We ensure our manufacturing processes 
of finished products are zero emission 
and zero waste

We encourage and support the use of re-
newable energy and energy conservation 
by our suppliers

Our packaging materials are 100% recy-
clable

At NattoPharma we facilitate transparency of the entire supply chain of our 
raw materials through delivery of our products to customers. We purpose-
ly make choices with social and environmental impact in mind.

MenaQ7 is a premium 

material manufactured in a 

premium way. Our carbon impact 

is very low, simply because of the 

nature and volume of the product. 

Our process incorporates consid-

eration of social and environmen-

tal concerns within our decision 

making on improvements and 

implementing changes, resulting 

in sustainability being part of the 

design of our products and 

operations.

We audit our global suppliers to ensure 
adherence with manufacturing practices 
such as waste handling

We limit carbon impact by reducing trans-
portation needs through close-to market 
manufacturing

We only source from sustainable raw ma-
terials where possible
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Bohan (53) established NattoPharma in 2004 and was 
an important driving force for the Company to suc-
ceed in gaining access to several major customers 
from day one. Bohan worked as a sales and marketing 
director until 2007, and was responsible for the Com-
pany passing 20 million in sales at the time. Bohan has 
established a series of companies in Norway and in-
ternationally in the field of health and technology over 
the last 20 years. Bohan is the largest shareholder in 
NattoPharma through Bohan & Co. AS, ImmunoPhar-
ma AS and Patrycia Ratusinska with a total stake of 
17.05% per December 31st, 2020. Besides, Bohan has 
100 000 options in the Company.

In 2020 he received a compensation of NOK 703 000 
and 50 000 options.

Bohan tendered all his directly and indirectly con-
trolled shares (incl. options) in the voluntary cash offer 
received from Lesaffre and after the completion of the 
offer does not hold any shares or other equity instru-
ments in the Company.

FRODE BOHAN Chairman of the Board

Halldén (55) has extensive experience from interna-
tional finance. At December 31st, 2020 Halldén with re-
lated parties owned 292 010 shares in the Company, 
and has 100 000 options.

Halldén tendered all his directly and indirectly con-
trolled shares (incl. options) in the voluntary cash offer 
received from Lesaffre and after the completion of the 
offer does not hold any shares or other equity instru-
ments in the Company.

STEFAN HALLDÉN Board Director

The NattoPharma Board of Directors consists of individuals with a range of 
expertise in industry, finance and business, providing management over-
sight and guidance on a continuous basis.

The Board of Directors

Maresz (47) has a PhD in Immunology and has expe-
rience from The Blood Research Institute, Milwaukee. 
She has also been a research assistant at Jagiellonian 
University, Medical College Krakow, Poland. Maresz 
has published several immunology studies, including 
the prestigious Nature Immunology Journal, and is 
a member of the American Association of Immunol-
ogists. At December 31st, 2020 she owned 25 000 
shares in the Company, and has 100 000 options.

Maresz tendered all her shares (incl. options) in the 
voluntary cash offer received from Lesaffre and after 
the completion of the offer does not hold any shares 
or other equity instruments in the Company.

KATARZYNA MAREZ Board Director

Elmqvist (72) graduated from Uppsala University. She 
started her career at the Swedish Medical Products 
Agency, and later gained 20 years of experience in 
pharmaceuticals in the field of quality, production, and 
operations. Elmqvist is currently engaged in the posi-
tion of VP Quality Assurance in Scandinavian Bio-phar-
ma AB. Broad experience in the pharmaceutical in-
dustry, and within production in particular, makes 
Elmqvist an important resource for NattoPharma in 
the process of further developing the Company. At 
December 31st, 2020 she owned 50 000 shares in the 
Company, and has 100 000 options.

Elmqvist tendered all her shares (incl. options) in the 
voluntary cash offer received from Lesaffre and after 
the completion of the offer does not hold any shares 
or other equity instruments in the Company.

ANNETTE ELMQVIST Board Director



28ANNUAL REPORT 2020 NATTOPHARMA27 THE SHAREBOARD OF DIRECTORS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE THE COMPANY

The Board continuously assesses the need for working 
capital and capital for new investments necessary to 
meet future growth and the current dividend policy. As 
of December 31st, 2020, the company’s share capital is 
NOK 59 530 299 divided into 18 843 433 shares each 
with a nominal value of NOK 3. In addition, the Compa-
ny owns 7 143 shares at a face value of NOK 3, valued 
at a total of NOK 21 429.

As the company is in a phase of continued rapid 
growth, investments in working capital will be neces-
sary. For this reason, the Board will not propose any 
dividend distribution for 2020.

At the Annual General Meeting June 19th, 2020, the fol-
lowing resolution was adopted pursuant to sections 
9-4 and 9-5 of the Public Limited Liability Companies 
Act;

Power of Attorney - Stock Option Program
Power of attorney to increase the company’s share 
capital by up to NOK 5 823 000 equivalent to 1 941 
000 new shares each denominated NOK 3. Within this 
framework, the authorization may be used several 
times within the term of the mandate. The subscription 
price and other terms is determined by the Board of 
Directors. The new shares may be subscribed by em-
ployees, other resource persons and members of the 
Board of Directors, and the shareholders’ pre-emptive 
rights may thus be set aside, cf. the Public Limited Lia-
bility Companies Act § 10-4 cf. 10-5. The authorization 
does not comprise capital increase by non-cash pay-
ment or a right to charge the company with special 
obligations, cf. Public Limited Liability Companies Act 
§ 10-2, and does not include a merger resolution, cf. 
Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 13-5.

The authorization shall be valid until the 2022 Annual 
General Meeting, but no longer than June 19th, 2022. 
The maturity of the above authorization is not in ac-
cordance with the recommendation in NUES.

In 2020, 428 500 shares were issued under this au-
thorization.

The Board strives to comply with the Norwegian Code 
of Practice for Corporate Governance, last revised Oc-
tober 17th, 2018 (www.nues.no) and Section 3-3b of 
the Norwegian Accounting Act.  

Compliance with the recommendations are based on 
the “follow or explain” principle and the following re-
view goes through the systematics of the latest revised 
version of NUES.

The company’s principles for corporate governance 
will lay the foundation for long-term value creation 
for the benefit of shareholders, employees, and soci-
ety as a whole. The principles shall clarify role sharing 
between shareholders, the Board and daily Manage-
ment beyond what is stated in the legislation. The prin-
ciples will help to strengthen the trust of the company 
among shareholders, the capital market, and other 
stakeholders. The Board of Directors will ensure that 
the company has good corporate governance and is 
subject to annual assessment and discussion in the 
Board, as well as the text of this chapter in the Annual 
Report.

1 STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

According to NattoPharma’s Articles of Association, 
the company’s activities are to directly and via owner-
ship interests in other companies, to develop, distrib-
ute, and sell nutritional products and pharmaceutical 
products, as well as related services. 

The Group’s goals and main strategies are presented 
in total in the annual report, but can be summarised 
as follows: «The Group’s core business is the produc-
tion and processing of K2 vitamin products and other 
ingredients within the supplement and nutracetical in-
dustry, and marketing, sale and distribution of these-
products.». This includes investments in R&D and IPR 
(patents/documentation) relating to the use of vitamin 
K2 as a commercial product. 

The Board evaluates the goals, strategies and the 
Group’s risk profile as such at the minimum annually.

2 ACTIVITIES

3 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors of NattoPharma underlines the importance of having 
sound corporate governance that clearly states the distribution of roles be-
tween shareholders, the Board of Directors and the company management. 

Corporate Governance

Ramsøy (49) joined NattoPharma as CFO in 2016. A 
Certified Public Accountant, he has served in sever-
al senior financial positions within the power supply 
industry, as well as the oil service industry. Having 
worked in both Scandinavia and the United States, he 
brings experience from both global and publicly listed 
companies to NattoPharma. At December 31st, 2020 
Ramsøy with related parties owned 350 000 shares in 
the Company, and has 225 100 options.

Ramsøy tendered all his directly and indirectly con-
trolled shares (incl. options) in the voluntary cash offer 
received from Lesaffre and after the completion of the 
offer does not hold any shares or other equity instru-
ments in the Company.

KJETIL RAMSØY NattoPharma CEO

Thorsheim (62) holds a law degree from the Univer-
sity of Oslo. For the last 20 years he has been a pro-
fessional investor, investing in non-listed companies 
within industries such as aerospace, real estate, adver-
tising, and security. Thorsheim has also invested in in-
dustries within commodities and biotec, and has been 
a significant shareholder in NattoPharma for many 
years. At December 31st, 2020 Thorsheim with related 
parties owned 2 822 310 shares in the Company, and 
has 0 options.

Thorsheim tendered all his directly and indirectly con-
trolled shares (incl. options) in the voluntary cash offer 
received from Lesaffre and after the completion of the 
offer does not hold any shares or other equity instru-
ments in the Company.

SJUR THORSHEIM Board Director

http://www.nues.no
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The Board ensures that internal control procedures 
are carried out and that there are appropriate risk 
management systems that will help eliminate unnec-
essary risks to which the company is exposed. Typical 
risk exposure that the company is exposed to includes 
operational risk, currency risk, financial risk, and risk 
related to the markets in which the company is en-
gaged in laws and regulations in individual countries.

The Board strives to hold an Annual Meeting for re-
view of the company’s finances, risk exposure, and in-
ternal control with the company’s auditor. A meeting 
was held with the company’s auditor in 2020.

The Board helps to ensure the quality of internal and 
external reporting, that the company operates com-
mercially soundly with regard to adopted standards, 
and that the company adheres to applicable laws and 
regulations. The company has established Board in-
structions and instructions for the General Manager. 
The company has implemented Ethical Guidelines and 
established a framework for internal control per date 
of approval of the annual accounts for 2020.

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CON-
TROL

The Board’s remuneration is approved by the com-
pany’s General Meeting, and refer to minutes of the 
Annual General Meeting dated June 19th, 2020, for fur-
ther clarification by the Nomination Committee of the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting 2020.

Routines have been introduced for agreements with 
the Board members to be approved by the Board. 
Such routines have been introduced in the Board of 
Directors of April 14th, 2008.

See renumeration to each member of the Board of Di-
rectors on page 69.

11 BOARD REMUNERATION

The company has a Nomination Committee, as per the 
articles of association. The Nomination Committee has 
been published through publication of the company’s 
general meeting protocol. The Nomination Committee 
proposes candidates to the Board to be elected at 
the company’s Annual General Meeting. As of today, 
the Nomination Committee consists of two members, 
Frank E. Bjordal (leader) and Christian Espeseth. Ac-
cording to the Articles of Association the Nomination 
Committee should propose its own guidelines. The 
members of the Nomination Committee are indepen-
dent of the board and other senior executives. As the 
Board has not prepared an evaluation report, such 
a report has not been dealt with by the Nomination 
Committee.

7 NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has overall responsibility for the compa-
ny’s management. Today there are five members of 
the Board (three men and two women) and one dep-
uty member of the Board. All requirements for the 
number of Board members, the composition of the 
Board with regard to independence, and the number 
of women (ref. Norwegian law applicable from Janu-
ary 1st, 2008) are fulfilled. The Chairman of the Board 
has been re-elected at the Annual General Meeting 
in 2020 for another two years. Board members Ste-
fan Hallden, Sjur Thorsheim and Anette Elmqvist have 
also been re-elected and Kim Øien has been elected 
as deputy board member at the Annual General Meet-
ing in 2020 for two years. Four of the Board’s mem-
bers owns shares in the company and also the dep-
uty board member holds shares in the company. All 
Board members are considered independent and the 
Board’s composition is thus in line with the Norwegian 
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, Section 8.  

Information on the members of the Board
See separate presentation on the Board of Directors 
on page 25.

8 COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD, 
GOVERNANCE AND INDEPENDENCE

9 WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is acting according to the ap-
proved boards rules of procedure which were ad-
opted by the Board on April 14th, 2008. The Board of 
Directors, elected at the Annual General Meetings in 
2019 and 2020 has a plan for monthly board meetings 
in 2021, and will hold ad hoc board meetings on im-
portant topics that may arise.

The Board has conducted 26 meetings during 2020. 
Due to the size of the company the Board has ap-
pointed itself as the Audit Committee and Compensa-
tion Committee. The Board has not conducted an own 
evaluation in the form of a separate report, as this has 
not been the agenda for the Board since its accession. 

The company’s goal is to maximize the return on 
shareholders’ invested capital over time. It is import-
ant for the Board to ensure that there are competent 
persons in the company’s governing bodies and to en-
sure that the company’s accounts have been audited 
by a qualified and independent auditor. The company 
also believes that it is important that information is 
communicated in a manner that does not favour any 
shareholders or stakeholders and that the information 
provided is fair and provides a true and fair view of 
the company’s position and its business. NattoPharma 
has only one share class with equal voting rights. All 
shareholders have equal rights to dividends and equal 
rights in the case of share capital expansion.

There are no restrictions on the transferability of the 
company’s shares. The company’s shares were listed 
on the Oslo Stock Exchange, Euronext Expand list on 
January 30th, 2008. The company is subject to the re-
quirements and rules applicable to all companies list-
ed on Oslo Børs.

4 EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND 
TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSELY RELATED 
PARTIES

Power of Attorney - Share Capital Increase for Ac-
quisitions and Mergers or Other Means
Power of attorney to increase the company’s share 
capital by up to NOK 11 646 000 equivalent to 3 882 
000 new shares each denominated NOK 3. Within 
this framework, the authorization may be used sev-
eral times within the term of the authorization. The 
subscription price and other terms of the shares are 
determined by the Board. The authorization may be 
used to further develop the company’s areas of prior-
ity by acquiring or merge with new businesses against 
payment in new shares or by otherwise increasing 
the share capital. The shareholders’ pre-emptive 
rights may be set aside, cf. the Public Limited Liabil-
ity Companies Act § 10-4 cf. 10-5. The authorization 
also includes share capital increases against non-cash 
payments and the right to impose special obligations 
on the company, cf. the Public Limited Liability Com-
panies Act § 10-2. The authorization also includes the 
adoption of merger resolutions pursuant to the Public 
Limited Companies Act § 13-5. 

The authorization shall be valid until the 2021 Annual 
General Meeting, but no longer than June 19th, 2021.

On January 7th, 2020, a share issue of 1 235 000 new 
shares was completed.

Power of Attorney - Repurchase of Own Shares
Power of attorney to acquire shares in NattoPharma 
ASA on one or more occasions for the purpose of own-
ing or exercising consideration for the acquisition of 
other companies or businesses, joint ventures, or joint 
ventures within NattoPharma’s purpose, with a total 
denomination of up to NOK 5 823 000. The authori-
zation also includes a contractual pledge in shares in 
NattoPharma ASA. The Board is free to choose the way 
in which the acquisition and disposal of own shares 
will take place. The authorization is not intended to fa-
cilitate or prevent takeover bids where NattoPharma 
ASA is the target company. Under this authorization, 
the Board may pay a minimum of NOK 0.01 per share 
or maximum market price per share on the day the 
offer is submitted, but the maximum amount does not 
exceed NOK 30 per share. 

The authorization shall be valid until the 2022 Annual 
General Meeting, but no longer than June 19th, 2022. 
The maturity of the above authorization is not in ac-
cordance with the recommendation in NUES.

No shares have repurchased under this authorization 
in 2020.

5 FREE TRANSFERABILITY

6 GENERAL MEETING

The company adheres to section 5 of the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act and the Norwegian 
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, para-
graph 6, regarding shareholders’ rights in order to fa-
cilitate the participation of shareholders in exercising 
their rights at the company’s general meeting. Notice 
of invitation to the Annual General Meeting and case 
documents to the general meeting, as far as possible, 
including the nomination committee’s recommenda-
tion, will be available on the company’s website no lat-
er than 21 days before the general meeting is held. In 
addition, the general meeting will be convened in writ-
ing. All shareholders have the right to attend, possibly 
meeting by proxy. The general meeting shall approve 
the annual accounts and the board’s report, elect the 
company’s Board, election committee and approve 
their fees, and elect the auditor and approve his fees. 
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Share Return and Turnover

Liquidity in the NattoPharma share increased by 615% in 2020 compared to 2019. The 
shares yielded a return of 142.7%, while the Oslo Stock Exchange’s benchmark index 
went up 4.6%.

The Share

The turnover rate for 2020 was approximately 90% 
(2019: 13%), and a total of 17 034 095 (2019: 2 381 
041) shares were traded on the stock exchange. The 
NATTO share was traded on 251 (223) out of 251 (251) 
possible trading days, and the average numbers of 
shares traded for each trading day was 67 865 (10 
677) shares. 

NattoPharma is in a growth phase and is currently not 
in a position to pay out dividend. Provided that the 
ambitions for the Company are met, the Company ex-
pects to pay out dividends in the future.

Dividend
NattoPharma is in a growth phase and currently not in 
a position to pay out dividend.

Share Return and Turnover
NattoPharma was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange’s 
Oslo Axess List January 30th, 2008 and trade under the 
ticker NATTO. There is only one share class, and all the 
shares carry voting rights. 

The company’s goal is to create value for shareholders 
in the long term through a competitive return relative 
to comparable investment alternatives. The value will 
come from share appreciation in the mid-term. The 
company is in a significant growth phase and re-in-
vests profit into the business.

The NATTO increased 142.7% in 2020, and its closing 
price as at December 31st, 2020, was NOK 18.20 (7.50).

After a period of decling liquidity, the trading in the 
share picked up again in 2019 and the trend contin-
ued in 2020.
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The CEO’s and senior executives’ compensations for 
2020 are described in note 21 in the annual accounts. 
Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Public Limited Com-
panies Act, the Board has prepared a statement on 
the determination of salary and other remuneration 
to the CEO and other senior executives.
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible 
for determining the remuneration of the CEO, and the 
CEO is in consultation with the Board again responsi-
ble for determining the remuneration of senior exec-
utives. In defining the criteria underlying the wage de-
termination guidelines, the underlying principle is that 
the total salary package should reflect the responsibil-
ities and duties of the individual in the management 
team, and that the employee contributes to the long-
term value creation of the company. It is crucial that 
the company can offer competitive conditions in order 
to attract people with the qualities and competencies 
necessary to support the strategic development of the 
company, nationally as well as internationally.

The company’s employees participate in the compa-
ny’s pension and insurance scheme through DNB Livs-
forsikring AS.

12 REMUNERATION TO EXECUTIVE PERSONNEL

It is NattoPharma’s policy that all shareholders should 
be treated equally as regards access to information 
relevant to evaluating and valuing the company, and 
that the company will receive and appreciate the 
shareholders’ views and interest in the company’s op-
erations, results and strategy. NattoPharma strives to 
present financial statements and other financial re-
porting that its investors will fully trust and satisfy the 
requirements of Oslo Børs for listed companies (as a 
result of the company’s shares being listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange’s Axess list January 30th, 2008). Natto-
Pharma’s accounting practices indicate a high degree 
of transparency and are based on IFRS standards. Up-
dated financial information and other company-relat-
ed information are posted on the company’s website. 
The company has established guidelines for the com-
pany’s contact with shareholders outside the General 
Meeting, which is available on the company’s website 
www.nattopharma.com under “Investor Relations”. 

13 INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

The Board of Directors has, inter alia, adopted the fol-
lowing principles for the treatment of any acquisition 
offer:

• If the Board receives information about a possible 
or current takeover bid on the company’s shares, 
the Board shall assist all shareholders to be treat-
ed equally and receive satisfactory information at 
all times.

• In the case of takeover bids on the company, the 
Board shall contribute to the operation of the 
company without interruption under normal op-
erations.

• In the case of takeover bids, the Board shall not 
actively prevent the offer, unless special circum-
stances dictate that such an act will be in the best 
interest of the shareholders.

• The Board of Directors shall not seek to prevent 
takeover bids by making use of power of attorney 
to issue new shares or to take other decisions to 
prevent the execution of the offer.

• If an offer is received, the Board shall publish its 
assessment of the offer and a recommendation 
to the shareholders to accept or reject the offer. 
The Board shall work to ensure that shareholders 
have sufficient time to decide on the bid.

• The Board of Directors will continue to develop 
guidelines and principles for how the company will 
handle a possible takeover bid on the company’s 
shares.

14 TAKEOVERS

15 AUDITOR

Deloitte AS is the company’s auditor, elected at the 
Annual General Meeting on May 9th, 2014. The audi-
tor has been appointed by the General Meeting on 
behalf of all shareholders and the election has been 
conducted in accordance with laws and regulations. 
The auditor supervises accounting, annual accounts, 
and the annual financial closing, as well as verifies tax 
settlement before submission of tax return for the 
company. There will be at least one annual meeting 
with the Board without presence from the company’s 
Management, among other things, to review the com-
pany’s internal control. A meeting was held in 2020 to 
review the company’s internal control in accordance 
with NUES paragraph 15.

Remuneration to the auditor in 2020 is shown in note 
7 to the annual accounts.

http://www.nattopharma.com
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*) Pro-forma after spin-off of Pharma business into Kaydence Pharma AS in 2017.

2020 2019 2018 2017*) 2016*) 2015

Market Value (NOK 1000) 361 150 136 349 147 257 164 982 159 711 136 262

Number of Shares Traded (1000) 17 034 2 381 1 902 3 311 2 534 4 895

Numbers of Issued Shares as at December 31st 
(1000)

19 843 18 180 18 180 18 130 17 570 17 140

Share Price as at December 31st 18.20 7.50 8.10 9.10 9.09 7.95

Year High 21.20 12.50 9.65 11.45 11.10 16.60

Year Low 5.85 7.25 8.10 8.68 6.50 6.60

Earnings per Share (NOK) 3.62 -0.75 0.09 -0.23 -0.60 -1.84

Diluted Earnings per Share (NOK) 3.55 -0.75 0.09 -0.23 -0.60 -1.84

Dividends per Share (NOK) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Return on Equity (ROE) 37.7% -13.5% 1.5% -3.7% -13.8% -34.0%

Share Price/Earnings per Share (P/E) 5.27 -12.70 87.59 n.m. n.m. n.m.

Share Price/Equity per Share (P/B) 1.98 1.20 1.34 1.49 2.10 1.47

EV/EBITDA (Adj.) 8.84 14.85 19.33 28.74 288.86 n.m.

Cash Flow from Operations (NOK 1000) 25 411 6 366 6 488 -11 229 -4 937 -24 734

Free Cash Flow (FCF) (NOK 1000) 17 075 -8 537 2 831 -12 093 -6 414 -28 352

Share Capital and Shareholders 
As at December 31st, 2020, the share capital is NOK 59 
530 299 based on a total number of shares issued of 
19 843 433 each with a face value of NOK 3. The com-
pany held a total of 7 143 own shares.

Throughout 2020 the company has issued new shares 
as per below:

• On January 7th, a share issue of 1 235 000 new 
shares at a subscription price of NOK 11.50 was 
completed. 

• On June 5th, a share issue of 100 000 new shares 
at a subscription price of NOK 9.00 was completed 
in reference to exercised options. 

• On June 26th, a share issue of 25 000 new shares 
at a subscription price of NOK 9.00 was completed 
in reference to exercised options. 

• On November 27th, a share issue of 303 500 shares 
at an average subscription price of NOK 9.91 was 
completed in reference to exercised options.

As at December 31st, 2020 the company has issued 1 
200 850 share options.

At the end of the year, there were approximately 820 
shareholders on the list of shareholders.

As at December 31st, 2020, the twenty largest share-
holders owned 69.8% of the company’s shares. Man-
agement and the Board of Directors owned directly 
or indirectly approximately 39.2% of the shares in 
the company. Chairman of the Board, Frode Bohan, 
through ownership in Bohan & Co AS, TG Montgomery 
AS and Patrycia Ratusinska is the largest shareholder 
with 14.15% of the company’s shares. 

Share issues and buyback of shares will be considered 
on an ongoing basis in light of the company’s alterna-
tive investment options, financial situation and need 
for capital or shares in connection with options pro-
grammes, acquisitions or for other needs for capital. 
NattoPharma is authorised by the General Meeting to 
issue up to 10% of the shares outstanding, and autho-
rized to buy up to 10% of the shares outstanding.

Shareholders Name No. of 
Shares

% of Total

Pro AS 2 701 310 13.61%

Kappa Bioscience AS 2 032 721 10.24%

TG Montgomery AS 1 735 122 8.74%

Synergia Life Sciences PTY LTD 1 360 000 6.85%

Bohan & Co AS 1 298 455 6.54%

Life Sciences Sweden AB 647 654 3.26%

Försäkringsaktiebolaget Avanza 615 869 3.10%

Jan Fredrik Bjerkenes Holding AS 472 477 2.38%

Carl AF Petersen 450 000 2.27%

Patrycja Karolina Ratusinska 350 000 1.76%

Trygve Nielsen 349 000 1.76%

Cinco Invest AS 300 000 1.51%

Stefan Hallden 292 010 1.47%

Erik Øyen 253 000 1.27%

Stein Ole Vrenne 212 135 1.07%

Nicoline Invest AS 200 000 1.01%

MP Games Aktiebolag 199 643 1.01%

Jan Marian Markiewicz 137 500 0.69%

Perkhed Company AB 125 540 0.63%

Trapesaa AS 123 235 0.62%

Total Shares Top-20 13 855 671 69.82% 

Other Shareholders 5 987 762 30.18%

Total Outstanding Number of 
Shares

19 843 433 100.00%

Investor Relations
NattoPharma’s objective is for all stakeholders to have 
access to the same financial information at any given 
time. The information provided should ensure that val-
uation of the share is as correct as possible. Informa-
tion that may impact the share price will be disclosed 
to the Oslo Stock Exchange and on the Company’s 
website.

In 2020 the company published quarterly reporting 
and held public presentations of its quarterly and an-
nual results. These presentations were held live on a 
webcast and are available on NattoPharma’s own web-
site.

During 2020 both Nordea Markets and Norne Secu-
rities provided coverage on the NattoPharma share 
through a report commissioned by NattoPharma. A 
link to the report and other information can be found 
on NattoPharma’s website. 

Finally, the company maintains ongoing contact with 
investors and analysts. The company follows the Oslo 
Stock Exchange’s recommendations for reporting IR 
information. Robert Schrama, CFO, is responsible for 
investor relations
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Amounts in NOK mill. 2020 2019 Change

Gross Profit 
Product Revenues

91.3 50.9 40.4

Gross Margin 
Product Revenues

42.6% 40.0% 2.6%

The total Operating expenses development is summa-
rized below.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2020 2019 Change

Personnel Cost 39.3 30.9 8.4

Other OpEx 22.6 16.5 6.1

Total OpEx 61.9 47.4 14.5

Operating expenses includes recharges made to re-
lated parties, non-cash cost related to options to 
management and the Board of Directors, and cost 
directly associated with the strategic review process 
announced in June 2020. Below is a summary of the 
OpEx development adjusted for these items.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2020 2019 Change

Personnel Cost (Adj.) 33.8 26.3 7.5

Other OpEx (Adj.) 20.3 16.3 4.0

Total OpEx (Adj.) 54.1 42.6 11.5

As a % of Product 
Revenues

25.2% 33.5% -3.1%

The increase in Personnel Cost during 2020 relates to 
the impact of the average weak position of the NOK, 
the effect of the results on the performance-based re-
muneration, and the hiring of new personnel to sup-
port the growth and strengthen the focus on the sup-
plement/nutraceutical segments. 

The Other OpEx increase during 2020 also relates to 
the average weak position of the NOK as most of our 
costs are denominated in either USD or EUR. Besides, 
we have seen an increase in our R&D costs, legal costs, 
and other consultancy costs during 2020, partly off-
set with the lower travel and marketing costs resulting 
from rescheduled and/or canceled trade-shows and 
generally lower travel activity due to COVID-19 restric-
tions.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2020 2019 Change

EBITDA (Adj.) 37.3 8.2 29.1

EBITDA Margin (Adj.) 17.4% 6.5% 10.9%

EBITDA 32.9 7.5 25.4

EBITDA Margin 15.4% 5.9% 9.5%

Net Profit 68.6 -13.7 82.3

Net Profit Margin 32.0% -10.8% 42.8%

Depreciation and amortisation for the period were 
NOK 11.4 million. This largely applies to the depre-
ciation of intangible assets related to the acquisition 
of NattoPharma R&D Ltd. in 2013 and the amortiza-
tion related to the patents and intellectual property 
owned by Kaydence Pharma AS. A controlling inter-
est in Kaydence Pharma AS was obtained at June 30th, 
2020 after which Kaydence Pharma AS is consolidated 
100% in the account of the NattoPharma Group.

Net financial items in the period was positive NOK 22.5 
million. NOK 21.7 relates to the reversal of the impair-
ment of Kaydence Pharma AS, NOK 1.4 million was 
mainly interest income on the loan to Kaydence Phar-
ma AS, while NOK 0.6 million was net currency impact 
and other financial items.

In 2020 the net deferred tax position for the parent 
company has been recognized comprising the tax 
losses carry-forward offset with deferred tax liabilities 
for other temporary differences. The impact to net in-
come is NOK 28.8 million which brings the net profit 
for 2020 to NOK 68.6 million (2019: NOK -13.7 million).

Balance Sheet, Working Capital and Cash Flow
NattoPharma continues to maintain a strong financial 
position, with an equity ratio as per December 31st, 
2020, of 71.1%, compared to 63.2% as per December 
31st, 2019.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2020 2019 Change

Sales Revenue 214.5 127.1 87.4

Other Revenue 3.5 4.0 -0.5

Total Revenue 218.0 131.2 86.8

The Gross Margin came in at 42.6% for the year, with a 
gross margin of 41.3% in the first half of the year and 
43.8% in the second half of the year.

NattoPharma showed a very strong performance in 2020. Operating Revenues increased 68.7 percent to NOK 
214.5 million, and the adjusted EBITDA margin for the year came in at 17.4 percent. With a more robust organisa-
tion and continued growth in the market, the Board of Directors is of the opinion that NattoPharma is well-posi-
tioned for a continued increase in the level of activity and good results for the coming year.

Board of Directors’ Report

NattoPharma ASA is a B2B company promoting and 
selling vitamin K2 globally under its world recognized 
brand MenaQ7® - materialized through approved 
Novel Food procedures in Europe and SA-GRAS certifi-
cates in the United States. NattoPharma ASA operates 
out of its head office in Oslo, Norway, and has subsid-
iaries in Norway, the US and Cyprus, as well as sales 
representatives across Europe and Asia. 

Vitamin K2 has been documented in clinical trials to 
reduce age-related calcium loss from bone tissue and 
contribute to maintaining bone strength, and post-
pones the possible development of osteoporosis. Vita-
min K2 MenaQ7® also delays the development of rigid 
blood vessels, which we also call arterial calcification. 
The completed clinical “3-year study” - published in 
2013 (bone results) and 2015 (cardiovascular results) 
- documented that a daily intake of 180 micrograms 
MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 over a 3 year period made the 
artery walls less rigid. Less rigid arteries mean that 
the blood vessels are more flexible and that the heart 
does not have to pump the blood into the main artery 
with excessive pressure. “Soft” and flexible arteries re-
duce the risk of heart attack or stroke. 

Since 2004 NattoPharma has been - and still is - the 
global pioneer and driver of vitamin K2 research and 
product development. The brand, MenaQ7®, is the 
leading global brand in the vitamin K2 dietary supple-
ment segment. NattoPharma currently sells both nat-
ural and synthetically produced vitamin K2 as MK7 to 
both manufacturers and distributors of finished prod-
ucts as nutritional supplements and enriched foods 
(i.e., functional foods). The Company has developed 
and applied a unique method of synthesizing a vita-
min K2 that is chemically identical to vitamin K2 nat-
urally produced by fermentation. The advantage of 
the chemically manufactured product, in addition to 
lower production costs, is that it contains less impuri-
ties from production than vitamin K2 produced by fer-
mentation. In the United States, MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 
is also sold as medical food (i.e., food specially adapted 
to specific nutritional needs). 

NattoPharma ASA is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, 
Euronext Expand under the ticker symbol NATTO.

NattoPharma’s vision is to secure its position as a glob-
al leader in Vitamin K2 by building a strong corporate 
culture focused on excellent quality and customer fo-
cus in all parts of the organization.

OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS CONCEPT VISION

FINANCIAL MATTERS

The financial statements of NattoPharma Group and 
the parent company, NattoPharma ASA, have been 
prepared in accordance with the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as determined by the 
EU, with additional disclosures required by the Norwe-
gian Accounting Act. The Board of Directors is of the 
opinion that the annual financial statements provide a 
true and fair view of the financial results for 2020 and 
financial position as at December 31st, 2020.

In accordance with the Norwegian accounting legis-
lation requirements, the Board of Directors confirms 
that the requirements have been met for preparation 
of the accounts under the going concern assumption 
and that the accounts have been prepared on this ba-
sis. The Corporate Governance Statement is an inte-
gral part of the Board of Directors’ report. The state-
ment is found on page 28 of the annual report

NattoPharma use APMs on certain key performance 
metrics. These will be noted as “Adjusted” figures in 
the report. Please refer to the last pages in the annual 
report for an explanation of each measure.

COMMENTS TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Income Statement
NattoPharma reported product revenue of NOK 214.5 
million for 2020, an increase of 68.7% compared to 
2019. The growth has been across all geographical 
areas. In total, the Americas contributed the most in 
total revenues and volumes in the period, while EMEA 
saw the highest relative volume growth in 2020. The 
change is driven mainly through organic growth in 
line with the overall demand increase we see in the 
K2 market. Other revenue of NOK 3.5 million largely 
represents services and other recharges to related 
parties.

The improved Opex as % of Operating Revenues aligns 
with our expectations at the reported revenue levels. 
We will continue to optimize our expenditure and im-
prove OpEx as % of operating revenue.

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Tax & Depreciation 
(Adj. EBITDA) was positive with NOK 37.3 million for 
the year. This compares to NOK 8.2 million in 2019. 
Net Profit was NOK 68.6 million in 2020, compared to 
NOK -13.7 million in 2019.
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ORGANISATION

ORGANISATION AND PERSONNEL

NattoPharma works hard to build a uniform and 
strong corporate culture focused on excellent quality 
and customer service in all parts of the organisation. 
Motivated employees and a solid organisation are an 
important foundation for creating value. 

At the end of 2020, there were 18 employees in the 
Group, similar to 2019. In the parent company, Nat-
toPharma ASA, there were 9 employees at year-end 
(2019: 8). The employees exclude sub-contracted 
personnel that is also a part of the personnel cost. At 
year-end the proportion of employed women in the 
Group amounted to 39%. 

The Board of Directors has two female members out 
of five. The Group is committed to observing and re-
specting the human rights of all individuals in accor-
dance with internationally recognised standards, be-
ing the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights. 
NattoPharma also expects its suppliers and partners 
to adhere to and operate in line with these same 
guidelines and likewise ensure compliance by their 
sub-suppliers. 

The Group prohibits discrimination against any em-
ployee or prospective employee based on sex, race, 
color, age, religion, sexual preference, marital status, 
national origin, disability, ancestry, political opinion, or 
any other basis prohibited by the laws that govern its 
operations. This applies, for example, to matters relat-
ing to pay, promotion, recruitment and general career 
development. 

No issues related to discrimination or gender equality 
were registered in 2020, and it is not considered nec-
essary to take any further measures to ensure equal 
opportunities.

The Group shall conduct itself in a manner designed 
to ensure a healthy work environment where all em-
ployees feel safe and secure and are valued for the 
diversity that they bring to the business.

NattoPharma honors all domestic and international 
laws and regulations designed to protect the Com-
pany’s personnel, and this ensures regulated working 
conditions related to working hours, holidays, remu-
neration, pensions, and discrimination. Employees 
should conduct themselves in a manner that is consis-
tent with this policy.

Research and Development (R&D) has been an im-
portant part of the Company’s business since its in-
ception in 2004. NattoPharma focuses on future R&D 
investments in product development over clinical re-
search and support of ongoing and new studies. 

Expenses related to R&D are continuously expensed 
in the income statement to the extent they cannot be 
justified as development cost. Any cost that can be jus-
tified as development are treated according to the ac-
counting principles described in note 2 to the financial 
statements. 

The Company continues to focus on the research and 
development of MenaQ7® Vitamin K2, in new formula-
tions that make vitamin easy to access in a wide range 
of finished products - both as supplements and en-
riched food (i.e., functional foods) for all consumers. 
The Company continues to secure the rights to such 
new technology through patents. NattoPharma also 
continues to look for innovative solutions for Men-
aQ7® as an ingredient in other products that provide 
improved ease of use and chemical stability. The Com-
pany adheres to the current regulatory framework for 
the use of health claims around vitamin K2 in all geo-
graphic segments in which it operates and continues 
its efforts to find the best and most relevant technolo-
gy for using the product to meet customer needs in an 
ever-expanding and more fragmented market.

NattoPharma has over the years developed a portfolio 
of patents from data generated through the Compa-
ny’s historical investment in R&D. This patent portfolio 
has been transferred to Kaydence Pharma AS in the 
transaction related to the pharma business complet-
ed in December 2017. NattoPharma has retained the 
exclusive right to use all patents and other scientific 
data transferred to Kaydence Pharma AS, as well as all 
future development taking place in Kaydence Pharma, 
for use in the supplement business. This allows the 
Company to protect its unique product features and 
health claims related to vitamin K2 and the MenaQ7® 
brand.

R&D ACTIVITIES

The Share
Earnings per share were NOK 3.62 (NOK -0.75) in 
2020. Diluted earnings per share were NOK 3.55 (NOK 
-0.75).

The Board proposes no dividend for 2020.  

The share price was NOK 18.20 (NOK 7.50) at year 
end. This yielded a return to shareholders of 142.7% 
(-7.4%).

COMMENTS TO PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTS

The parent company reported a turnover of NOK 89.5 
million compared to NOK 69.2 million for 2019. Oper-
ating Revenue came in at NOK 61.5 million compared 
to NOK 51.7 million in 2019. Cost of goods amounts to 
NOK 45.7 million, which gives a gross profit  from the 
sale of products of NOK 15.8 million in 2020 against 
NOK 10.8 million in 2019. The gross margin is 25.7% 
versus 20.9% for the same period in 2019. The im-
provement in gross margins comes mainly from im-
proved efficiency in sourcing and production.  

Personnel Cost, Depreciation and Other Operating 
Expenses amounted to NOK 44.4 million compared 
to NOK 30.1 million in the same period of 2019. Net 
financial items are positive by NOK 24.4 million, this 
includes the partial reversal of the impairment in 
Kaydence AS of NOK 21.7 million. Excluding the im-
pairment the financial items for 2020 are positive at 
NOK 2.7 million compare to NOK 2.7 million the same 
period in 2019. Overall 2020 gives a pre-tax profit 
from continued operations for the period of NOK 24.0 
million, compared with a negative result of NOK -33.1 
million for the same period in 2019.

On April 20th, 2021 Lesaffre launched it mandatary of-
fer of NOK 35 per share. The offer period closes on 
May 19th, 2021.

It is the assessment of the Board of Directors that 
none of the events have a material impact on the com-
pany’s financial position as at December 31st, 2020.

There are no other material events that have taken 
place after the balance date which are not disclosed 
in this report.

Amounts in NOK mill. 2020 2019 Change

Operational Cash 
Flow

25.4 6.4 19.0

Net Cash Flow 27.9 -4.1 32.0

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

42.5 14.6 27.9

The cash flow for 2020 has been strong. Even though 
we have been investing significantly in our inventory 
position with nearly NOK 18 million we have been able 
to deliver an operational cashflow for the year of NOK 
25.4 million (2019: NOK 6.4 million) and overall cash at 
the end of 2020 amounted to NOK 42.5 million (2019: 
14.6 million). Close attention to cash management and 
improved profitability have both contributed to the 
positive development. Working capital management 
remains a priority to ensure that the organization will 
sustain the growing investment required in working 
capital as the business continues to grow.

In 2020 the net deferred tax position for the parent 
company has been recognized comprising the tax 
losses carry-forward offset with deferred tax liabilities 
for other temporary differences. The impact to net in-
come is NOK 28.8 million .

Net result for the year is NOK 52.8 million, compared 
to NOK -33.1 million in 2019.

The company’s cash flow from operations for 2020 was 
positive by NOK 6.9 million compared with NOK 11.3 
million for 2019. The main items in the cash flow is the 
operating profit, partial reversal of the impairment of 
Kaydence investment, investments in working capital, 
prepayments and change in intercompany balances.

The balance sheet shows total equity of NOK 201.7  
million and total assets of NOK 233.4 million as at De-
cember 31st, 2020. The equity ratio is 86.4%.

DISTRIBUTION OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE YEAR

The Board proposes that the comprehensive income 
for NattoPharma ASA for the year of NOK 52.8 million 
is transferred to retained equity.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On February 15th, 2021 Compagnie des Levures Le-
saffre and NattoPharma announced that Lesaffre will 
launch an offer to acquire all outstanding shares of 
NattoPharma through a voluntary cash offer of NOK 
35 per share. The Board of Directors of NattoPharma 
has unanimously decided to recommend the share-
holders of the Company to accept the offer. 

On the same day, February 15th, 2021, NattoPharma 
announced its intention to launch a cash tender offer 
to acquire 100% of the shares of Kaydence Pharma AS 
at NOK 5 per share. At the time NattoPharma owned a 
total of 3 000 000 Shares in Kaydence Pharma, equiva-
lent to 54.15 % of Kaydence Pharma’s equity.

On March 23rd, 2021 Lesaffre announced the com-
pletion of their voluntary offer to acquire shares in 
NattoPharma where they have received acceptances 
bringing them to an ownership of more than 76% of 
the Company.

That same day NattoPharma announced the com-
pletion of the cash tender offer to acquire all shares 
in Kaydence Pharma. NattoPharma as of March 31st, 
2020 owns more than 95% of the shares in Kaydence 
Pharma.
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RISK AREAS

The Board of Directors and Management conducts 
ongoing analysis of the risk factors facing the Compa-
ny. An investment in equities implies risk and poten-
tial investors should carefully assess the risk outlined 
in this section, as well as the information contained 
elsewhere in this Annual Report with accompanying 
accounts and notes before deciding to invest in the 
Company’s shares. If any of the following risks mate-
rialize, this could adversely affect the Company and/
or its business, financial position, operating profit, li-
quidity, and/ or prospects. The value of the Company’s 
shares can be reduced, and investors may lose all or 
part of their investments. The order in which the risks 
are presented does not necessarily reflect the likeli-
hood that they occur or the extent of their potential 
impact on the Company.

An investment in the Company’s shares is only suitable 
for investors who understand risk factors associated 
with this type of investment and can afford a loss of all 
or part of the investment. All risks that are known to 
the Company or as the Company considers material is 
described in this section.

OPERATIONAL RISK FACTORS

Activity Levels
The Company’s business is exposed to the econom-
ic cycle in the market. Changes in the overall financial 
situation may affect the demand for the Company’s 
products, thereby affecting the Company’s financial 
position and profit. Since the Company’s business is 
concentrated in a single industry, the Company may 
be more exposed to special economic, political, regula-
tory, environmental, or other developmental features 
than a company that has a more diverse business.

Competition and Strategic Choices
Competition is a constant threat to the Company’s 
success. The competitive situation implies that high 
demands are set regarding the Company’s board and 
management and the long-term strategic choices that 
have been made. There is a possibility that new com-
panies can enter the market for vitamin K2 distribu-
tion and thereby increase the level of competition in 
the market. In such a situation, the company’s market 
situation can be significantly more challenging and 
lead to an unforeseen decline in sales. 

The competence of the Board and Management, and 
the ability to make the right strategic choices in a dy-
namic business environment can have a significant 
effect on the Company’s future financial performance 
and position.

Protection and Ownership of Intellectual Property
The Company relies on intellectual property rights 
(IPR) and patents regulated by law, in addition to con-
tractual restrictions, to protect important property 
rights. If these rights are not adequately protected, the 
Company’s ability to compete and generate revenue 
may be adversely affected.

Furthermore, the Company may risk not obtaining ad-
equate patent protection on the technology embodied 
in its products and manufacturing processes. There is 
also a risk of intrusion of IPR from third parties, which 
potentially impedes the Company’s business or leads 
to losses for the Company. In such cases, expenses for 
legal counselors may be significant.

The Company’s access and ability to use and claim 
rights related to its patents and other IPR developed 
by consultants or other collaborators on behalf of the 
Company relies on the ability of the Company to ful-
fil its payment obligations related to its patents, and 
agreements with affiliated third parties. Failure to 
make such payments as they mature may result in the 
Company being deprived of its patents and, in extreme 
consequence, the basis for continued operation.

Regulatory and Environmental Risk
The Company operates in different jurisdictions 
around the world. International operations increase 
the level of regulatory requirements and guidelines to 
which the Company must relate. Changes to the reg-
ulations and environmental provisions in the relevant 
jurisdictions may therefore affect the Company’s busi-
ness. Approvals from the EU Commission, FDA, and 
similar authorities in other jurisdictions are necessary 
to be allowed to market the Company’s products in 
Europe, the United States, and other relevant areas, 
respectively. It cannot be guaranteed that the Compa-
ny will receive and/ or be able to obtain the future nec-
essary permits to commercialize the products. Regu-
latory approvals can be withdrawn, denied, delayed, 
or limited for various reasons, and since regulatory 
agencies around the world have different approval 
requirements, this may have a negative effect on the 
Company.

Market Access
The Company relies on entering into distribution, co-
operation, offer, and/or license agreements to gener-
ate and increase revenue.

The introduction and establishment of new agree-
ments can take from 3 months to several years. From 
the first contact and presentation of MenaQ7®, cus-
tomers can spend up to 4 to 5 years to decide if the 
product can be launched in their range.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

NattoPharma focuses on creating and introducing to 
the market offerings valuable to society by delivering 
measurable health benefits via scientifically validated 
products and technologies. These contribute by tack-
ling disease development and potentially reducing 
government healthcare spend.

The Group prohibits harassment. Employees are ex-
pected to treat one another with respect. “Harass-
ment” includes any conduct likely to cause offense or 
humiliation to any person or that might, on reason-
able grounds, be perceived by a reasonable person to 
place a condition on employment or on any opportu-
nity for training or promotion. 

No claims or accidents have been reported involving 
any Group employees in 2020. Absence due to illness 
amounts to a total of 6 days (2019: 17 days), where 
100% relates to absenteeism registered via self-regis-
tration. There has been no absence due to long-term 
illness or injury. 

NattoPharma is strongly opposed to all forms of cor-
ruption and is committed to undertaking business in 
accordance with the highest ethical standards, with a 
zero-tolerance policy for corruption. No issues related 
to ethics or corruption were registered in 2020.

EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP

NattoPharma wants key employees and the Board of 
Directors to participate in joint value creation by be-
coming shareholders in the Company.

Therefore, NattoPharma has implemented a share op-
tion program. The program is evaluated in the annual 
General Meeting every year, last in May 2020. As at 
December 31st, 2020, there were 1 200 850 total op-
tions in the program, whereas 980 700 options were 
for employees. The 400 000 options to the Board are 
redeemable in May 2021 and June 2022, while em-
ployees’ options are redeemable in March 2022 and 
March 2023.

As at March 29th, all options have been redeemed and 
shares have been tendered to Lesaffre under the vol-
untary cash offer.

The Company aspires to be a good corporate citizen 
in the geographies in which it operates and in which 
its products are found and has a strong commitment 
to promoting honest and ethical business conduct by 
all employees, in compliance with the laws that govern 
the conduct of its business, and with an impeccable 
reputation for corporate trustworthiness.

NattoPharma believes that a commitment to honesty, 
ethical conduct and integrity is an invaluable asset that 
builds trust with its customers, suppliers, employees, 
shareholders and local communities. 

To implement its commitment, the Company has 
developed a code of conduct of business ethics and 
corporate social responsibility (the Code). The Code 
applies to all entities controlled by the Company and 
all employees, directors and officers of the Company 
(Employees). All Employees are required to read and 
understand the Code. The Code shall be reflected, 
promoted and implemented in policies, decisions and 
actions and the Company shall encourage suppliers, 
consultants and other business partners within its 
sphere of influence to adopt these principles. The 
Code was adopted on April 21st, 2015 can be found on 
the corporate website. 

Nattopharma will according to Norwegian Account-
ing Act §3-3c report on its performance based on an 
understanding of which topics are of material impor-
tance to both Nattopharma and society. Key topics are 
covered in the Report of the Board of Directors.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

NattoPharma’s policy is to operate its business in ac-
cordance with all applicable environmental laws and 
regulations to ensure protection of, and minimal im-
pact upon both the environment and climate change. 
All employees should conduct themselves in a man-
ner that is consistent with this policy. NattoPharma 
does not conduct business that pollutes the external 
environment beyond what is the normal result of a 
primarily office-based operation. The influence on the 
environment is predominantly through energy con-
sumption, waste generation, and travel, and the Com-
pany is committed to minimising these activities and 
their negative impact by implementing procedures to 
ensure that energy and materials are used efficiently 
and that waste and residual products are minimal.
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The Company provided a sellers credit in conjunction 
with the PharmaCo (later renamed Kaydence Pharma 
AS) transaction, completed in December 2017. On Oc-
tober 3rd 2019, the Company granted a 24-month waiv-
er in relation to all claims against Kaydence Pharma AS 
under both the credit agreement and loan agreement 
including accrued and future interest. After January 
2020 the board of Kaydence has suspended the ac-
tivities and the CEO was released from his duties ac-
cordingly. In order to protect the claim patents critical 
to the Group’s activities and for Kaydence to improve 
its equity position, it was agreed to convert some of 
the outstanding debt to equity as at June 30th, 2020. 
Hereupon, the Group holds 54.15% of the outstand-
ing shares of Kaydence Pharma AS and has obtained 
control through this transaction.

See note 22 for more information.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company is, to a limited extent, exposed to risk 
with regard to future interest rate fluctuations, beyond 
the above-mentioned currency exposure, and there 
are low deposit rates on surplus liquidity, which are 
managed based on a low-risk strategy. The Compa-
ny’s excess liquidity is placed on the account with DNB 
Bank ASA and Wells Fargo.

A significant increase in the overall interest rate level 
may adversely affect the Company’s results. Increased 
interest rate risk can also affect capital costs and re-
duce the possibility of acquiring new capital in the fu-
ture, if necessary.

Shareholder Condition
There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of 
association that restrict the right to sell the Company’s 
shares. There is no arrangement for employee shares 
or agreements between shareholders that limit the 
ability to sell or exercise voting rights for the Compa-
ny’s shares. Nor is the Company a party to any agree-
ments regarding shareholder relationships.

In 2020 the world was hit by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The pandemic exposed the different regions in differ-
ent ways as well as the timing of the different waves 
have varied. Our focus through this period has been 
on safeguarding operations and employees, includ-
ing their families, to continue to support our valued 
customers in these challenging times. NattoPharma 
accommodates employees in their personal situations 
to find the best solution to continue work and opera-
tions.

At the same time, we see the market for our business 
continues to grow. The widespread attention to health 
and the importance of staying healthy is increasing 
within the general population. The Board believes this 
is a shift that will continue and impact the markets 
NattoPharma operates.

COVID-19

As earlier communicated to the market the Board of 
Directors has carefully considered the terms and con-
ditions of the offer by Lesaffre. Based on an overall 
evaluation of relevant factors the Board of Directors 
viewed the offer to be in the best interests of the 
Company and its Shareholders and thus unanimously 
recommended the Shareholders of the Company to 
accept the offer.

Joining forces is viewed to be beneficial for both com-
panies. The geographic footprint is complementary. 
Joining forces creates a truly global company that of-
fers a documented and innovative science-backed ap-
proach with the solid sourcing and applications. The 
combined entity is well equipped to make the best use 
of the opportunity in a market that has seen rapid ex-
pansion in most parts of the world.

Lesaffre continuously invests in the development and 
career progression of its employees. With one of its 
cardinal values as entrepreneurship, Lesaffre strongly 
values the track record of the Company employees. 
Following completion of the offer, Lesaffre foresees 
a continuation of the Company’s workforce activities, 
with career evolution opportunities offered within a 
larger organization and in connection with the broad-
er product portfolio of Gnosis by Lesaffre and overall 
Lesaffre activities. The acquisition is not expected to 
have legal, economic or work-related consequences 
for the employees in the Company.

ACQUISITION BY LESAFFRE

Once such a decision is taken, the product will normal-
ly be launched within a period of 5 to 8 months. There 
are no guarantees that the Company in the future will 
be able to enter into such agreements to generate 
sufficient revenue required for the continuation of the 
business. Should such agreements for various rea-
sons be delayed, reduced, or terminated, this may ad-
versely affect the Company’s operations and results. 

Supply Risk
The Company’s business is dependent on the contin-
ued supply of the vitamin K2 raw material in natural or 
synthetic form. As of December 2020, the Company 
buys raw materials from several independent suppli-
ers, reducing the risk associated with the lack of vi-
tamin K2. However, as the market is growing, supply 
is expected to be a major focus and a potential risk 
going forward. To ensure further access to raw mate-
rials, the Company has implemented significant mea-
sures in the last years to increase access to products 
by entering strategic contracts with new suppliers and 
contract manufacturers. This will reduce the risk asso-
ciated with reliance on one or a few critical suppliers.

Disputes and Compensation Claims 
The Company may from time to time be involved in 
disputes and/or legal actions that could lead to signifi-
cant losses and/ or expenses for the Company and its 
business. No warranties can be made for the Compa-
ny to succeed in litigation or disagreement with third 
parties.

Market Risk
NattoPharma is not the only Company that has Nov-
el Food approval in Europe, but the Company wishes 
to build comparative competitive advantages using its 
IPR strategy, including protection through patents and 
the building of European trademarks through EFSA. 
NattoPharma continues the process of applications 
for “Health Claims” within the cardiovascular area for 
its MenaQ7® products to the European Food Safety 
Authority, EFSA.

The Company’s patent situation indicates that only 
NattoPharma and the customers purchasing Natto-
Pharma products have the right to claim that MK-7, a 
vitamin K2 consumed in foods or as supplements, has 
positive health effects for the cardiovascular system. 
MK-7 is marketed through NattoPharma’s brand name 
MenaQ7®.

In the North American market, NattoPharma is repre-
sented directly through the subsidiary NattoPharma 
USA, Inc., which was established in the second half 
of 2013. It is the Board’s assessment that it is a pre-
requisite for success in the American market that the 
Company is present and that the office is serviced with 
local knowledge and expertise.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Liquidity Risk
NattoPharma manages liquidity risk by adequate re-
serves and committed (bank) facilities, and by contin-
uously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows.

In 2020 the Group obtained a credit facility with DNB 
of NOK 10 million to support any excess need for cash 
and to safeguard the continuation of the growth not 
being impacted by the availability of funds. See note 
20 for further details.

Barring any unforeseen events, the management’s as-
sessment is that the Company’s liquidity by the end of 
2020, and updated forecasts for the short and medi-
um term, indicate no immediate need for additional 
funding to meet our operational requirements. Any 
new investments, other than ordinary operations, may 
however, entail the risk that future funding require-
ments will arise.

Currency Exchange Risk
The Group’s expenses are mainly related to NOK, USD, 
and EUR, while revenues are mainly USD and EUR. The 
exposure to currency risk is continuously monitored. 
Based on yearly average rates in 2020, EUR and USD 
have strengthened against Norwegian kroner by ap-
proximately 8.8% and 6.8%, respectively. The average 
exchange rate between EUR and USD has strength-
ened by 1.9% in favor of EUR. 

The Group’s management and the Board have contin-
uously assessed the risk and have not seen the need 
to implement additional measures to limit the curren-
cy risk. The Group operates with several currencies 
that impact different parts of the financials, which cre-
ates a partial natural foreign exchange rate hedging 
situation. However, if necessary, financial instruments 
such as futures will be evaluated to reduce this expo-
sure, especially in cases where credit will be given to 
major customers.

Credit Risk
Credit risk has been limited due to the use of advance 
payments on delivery for new customers, as well as 
limited credit for the largest customers. This situation 
is gradually changing as new contracts are negotiated 
with major international customers and distributors 
that require significant credit periods. This will place 
greater demands on monitoring and the follow-up of 
the continuous credit exposure, and the Company has 
implemented credit evaluation and follow-up proce-
dures to accommodate and mitigate this risk.
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NattoPharma has over the last few years focused on building a stronger operational presence and increasing the 
effort in flawless execution from production, supply chain, and sales. 2020 has proven the track the Company has 
taken and demonstrated further scalability in the operating model. The Company is ready for continuous growth 
with a well-functioning supply chain and world-class products both in the natural and synthetic product category. 
Based on this, the Board and Management are very positive about the future prospects. Developments in the vita-
min K2 markets as an ingredient in health and nutraceutical products are still in the early phase. The board believes 
strongly that NattoPhar-ma is well positioned to take a significant part of this market further developed and mature.

MARKET OUTLOOK

Frode M. Bohan
Chairman

Oslo, April 29th, 2021
Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA

Stefan Halldén
Board Member

Sjur Thorsheim
Board Member

Katarzyna Maresz
Board Member

Annette Elmqvist 
Board Member

Kjetil Ramsøy
NattoPharma CEO
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Intangible Assets

Goodwill 10 7 901 7 444

Other Intangible Assets 10, 22 86 365 42 436

Deferred Tax Assets 8 28 820 0

Total Intangible Assets 123 086 49 880

Tangible Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 11 643 519

Right-of-Use Assets 17 6 455 1 598

Total Tangible Assets 7 098 2 117

Financial Assets

Long-Term Receivable From Associate 22 0 31 907

Total Financial Assets 0 31 907

Total Non-Current Assets 130 184 83 904

Current Assets

Inventory 13 49 353 33 667

Trade Receivable 14 26 252 14 370

Other Receivables 14 7 413 13 918

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 42 485 14 619

Total Current Assets 125 503 76 574

Total Assets 255 687 160 478

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Revenue

Operating Revenue 4 214 468 127 119

Other Revenue 4 3 500 4 031

Total Operating and Other Revenue 217 968 131 150

Operating Expenses

Cost of Goods Sold -123 127 -76 232

Personnel Cost 5, 6 -39 274 -30 942

Depreciation and Amortisation 10, 11, 17 -11 374 -7 948

Other Operating Expenses 7 -22 645 -16 507

Total Operating Expenses -196 420 -131 629

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) 21 548 -479

Financial Items

Interest Income 1 370 2 688

Interest Expense -656 -753

Other Financial Income/Expense -410 -171

Reversal of Impairment/(Impairment) of Investment in Associate 22 21 723 -15 973

Net Currency Gain/Loss 479 557 

Net Financial Items 22 506 -13 652

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 44 054 -14 131

Income Tax Expense 8 24 538 435

Net Profit/(Loss) 68 592 -13 696

Net Profit/(Loss) Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent 70 526 -13 696

Non-Controlling Interest 22 -1 934 0

Net Profit/(Loss) 68 592 -13 696

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Net Profit/(Loss) 68 592 -13 696

Other Comprehensive Income:

Items that maybe be reclassified subsequently through profit or loss:

Translation Difference -2 778 -547

Total Other Comprehensive Income -2 778 -547

Total Comprehensive Income 65 814 -14 243

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to

Shareholders of the Parent 67 748 -12 243

Non-Controlling Interest 22 -1 934 0

Total Comprehensive Income 65 814 -14 243

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Consolidated Financial Statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 44 054 -14 131

Depreciation and Amortisation 10, 11 11 374 7 948

Impairment Reversal 22 -21 723 15 973

Share-Based Compensation 6 1 493 731

Taxes Paid 8 -397 0

Other Non-Cash Items 9 157

Changes in Working Capital Items

Inventory 13 -17 868 -22 102

Trade and Other Receivables 14 -15 987 8 228

Trade Payables 14 883 10 605

Other Current Items 9 573 -1 043

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 25 411 6 366

Cash Flow from Investment Activities

Investments in Property, Plant and Equipment 11 -272 -187

Investments in Intangible Assets 10 -8 064 -14 716

Loan to Associate 22 -1 634 -5 000

Net Cash Acquired 22 248

Net Cash Flows from Investment Activities -9 722 -19 903

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Share Issue/Transaction Costs 16 13 266 5 003

Proceeds from Short-Term Loans 18 1 992 6 000

Lease Payments 17 -926 -1 150

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 14 332 9 853

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 30 021 -3 684

Foreign Currency Effect -2 155 -352

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Period Start 14 619 18 655

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Period End 42 485 14 619
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Oslo, April 29th, 2021
Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA
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Kjetil Ramsøy
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share Capital 16 59 509 54 518

Share Premium Reserve 131 902 118 625

Non-Issued Equity 16 0 5 003

Accumulated Loss (24 032) (83 348)

Translation Differences 3 766 6 544

Non-Controlling Interest 22 10 769 0

Total Equity 181 914 101 342

Non-Current Liabilities

Deferred Tax Liability 8 2 305 2 915

Deferred Revenue from Sale of Business 22 0 12 027

Lease Liabilities 17 5 086 800

Total Non-Current Liabilities 7 391 15 742

Current Liabilities

Trade Payables 40 786 29 185

Borrowings 18 7 588 6 000

Financial Lease Liabilities - Current Portion 17 1 469 858

Other Current Liabilities 19 16 539 7 352

Total Current Liabilities 66 382 43 394

Total Liabilities 73 773 59 136

Total Equity and Liabilities 255 687 160 478

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Share 
Capital

Own 
Shares

Share 
Premium

Non-
Issued 
Equity

Accumu-
lated Loss

Trans-
lation 

Adjust-
ment

Non-Con-
trolling 

Interest

Total 
Equity

Equity as per January 1st, 2019 54 539 -21 118 625 0 -70 492 7 091 0 109 742

Effect from Implementation of IFRS 
16

0 0 0 0 109 0 0 109

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Period

0 0 0 0 -13 696 -547 0 -14 243

Equity Based Remuneration 0 0 0 0 731 0 0 731

Share Issue Including Transaction 
Costs

0 0 0 5 003 0 0 5 003

Equity as per December 31st, 2019 54 539 -21 118 625 5 003 -83 348 6 544 0 101 342

Equity as per January 1st, 2020 54 539 -21 118 625 5 003 -83 348 6 544 0 101 342

Acquisition of Subsidiary 0 0 0 0 -12 703 0 12 703 0

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Period

0 0 0 0 70 526 -2 778 -1 934 65 814

Equity Based Remuneration 0 0 0 0 1 493 0 1 493

Share Issue Including Transaction 
Costs

4 991 0 13 277 -5 003 0 13 265

Equity as per December 31st, 2020 59 530 -21 131 902 0 -24 032 3 766 19 769 181 914

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Transactions and Balances in Foreign Currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the 
Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot rates 
at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Mone-
tary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at 
the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or transla-
tion of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation of Foreign Operations
On consolidation, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries reported 
in their functional currencies are translated to NOK, the Group’s 
presentation currency, at period-end exchange rates according to 
Norges Bank. Income and expense items are translated to NOKs 
at the the average rate for the reporting periods.

Differences arising from the retranslation of opening net assets 
of subsidiaries, together with differences arising from the transla-
tion of the net results for the year for subsidiaries, are recognised 
in other comprehensive income, a component of equity.

2.5 - TANGIBLE ASSETS

Tangible assets are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Acquisition costs include 
costs directly related to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis based on the expected useful 
life of the assets, as well as the expected residual value. When 
incurring expenses related to the asset after the investment, ex-
penses are capitalized to the extent that it is likely that the com-
pany will have future economic benefits from them and that the 
expenses can be measured reliably.

An annual assessment of the depreciation plan is made taking 
into account the remaining useful life and residual value. In case 
of changes in useful life and net asset value, the remaining depre-
ciation plan is changed accordingly. Gains and losses on disposals 
of tangible fixed assets are recognized in the profit and loss ac-
count and make up the difference between the selling price and 
the book value.

2.6 - RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs are expensed continuously 
during the period in which they are incurred, with the exception 
of those cases where the criteria for capitalization in accordance 
with IAS 38 - Intangible Assets have been met. In these cases, 
the asset will be capitalized in the company’s balance sheet and 
depreciated over the estimated remaining life of the asset. The 
assessment of the fulfilment of the criteria in IAS 38, as well as 
the expected useful life of the capitalized assets, is based on 
management’s estimates and estimates and may be subject to 
uncertainty.

2.7 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets purchased externally are measured at cost. Ac-
quisition cost of intangible assets acquired in business acquisi-
tions is measured at fair value at acquisition date. In subsequent 
measurement, intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost 
less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
losses.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

The Group is a publicly traded limited liability company estab-
lished in 2004, and the head office is located in Lilleakerveien 2B, 
in the municipality of Oslo. The Group’s product is the MenaQ7® 
brand, which is based on a substance Menaquinone-7, the nat-
ural vitamin K2, as well as a synthetically manufactured product 
that was commercialized in the second half of 2015.

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The annual accounts have been prepared for the Group for 2020 
with comparative figures for 2019 for the Consolidated State-
ment of Income, Other Comprehensive Income, Financial Posi-
tion, Cash Flows and Changes in Equity. These principles have 
been applied consistently throughout all periods presented, un-
less otherwise stated in the description.

2.1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements of NattoPharma ASA have 
been prepared in accordance with EU-approved IFRSs and related 
interpretations, as well as the additional Norwegian disclosure re-
quirements that follow from the Accounting Act, Stock Exchange 
Regulations and Stock Exchange Rules, which will be applied per 
December 31st, 2020. The accounts have been prepared based on 
historical cost.

Changes in accounting policies due to new or amended stan-
dards are performed retroactively unless otherwise specifically 
determined by a current standard. Recurring effect requires that 
results from previous periods and opening balance for such peri-
od have been restated.

2.2 - CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND BUSINESS COMBINA-
TIONS

As at December 31st, 2020, NattoPharma is a group consisting of 
a parent company with three subsidiaries, NattoPharma USA, Inc. 
located in the United States, NattoPharma R&D Ltd., registered in 
Cyprus, and Kaydence Pharma AS located in Oslo, Norway.

The consolidated financial statements show the overall financial 
result and the total financial position when the parent company 
NattoPharma ASA and its controlled ownership interests in oth-
er companies are presented as one financial unit. All companies 
have applied consistent principles and all internal relationships 
between the companies have been eliminated. Wholly-owned 
subsidiaries have been consolidated 100% line by line in the con-
solidated financial statements from the date on which the Group 
has control and is consolidated until the date that control ceases.  
If the Group has control but owns less than 100% of its subsidiar-
ies, the minority share of profit after tax and equity is presented 
on its own lines. 

Investments in associates where the company has non-con-
trolling interest, are recognized using the equity method.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. Acquisitions will be accounted for from the time the 
Group has control, normally from the date all public approvals 
are registered. Assets and liabilities are valued at fair value.

The Groups’s shares were listed on Oslo Børs’ list Euronext Ex-
pand (former Oslo Axess)  January 30th, 2008.

The accounts were approved by the Board on April 29th, 2021.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Notes to the Financial Statements

The residual value of the acquisition will constitute goodwill. If 
there are non-controlling interests in the acquired company, 
these will receive their share of assets and liabilities transferred. 
Transactions with non-controlling interests will be recorded 
against equity.

Acquisitions of companies with single assets (or group of assets) 
not meeting the definition of a business combination:

For step-acquisitions of companies with a single group of assets 
not meeting the definition of a business, the Group accounts for 
the acquisition at cost when obtaining control. The cost will be a 
combination of the cost for the previous share plus the cost of 
the additional ownership providing control for the Group.

2.3 - SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group operates one segment for reporting of Operating 
Revenues. It offers vitamin k2, in natural and synthetic form, in 
several different geographic markets. Management considers 
risk profile and profitability to be approximately equal in all these 
geographic markets. Management and Board therefore consider 
the company’s operation as a unit in assessments and decisions 
regarding allocation of resources and investments. 

Activities that are not allocated to Operating Revenue are pre-
sented as Other Revenue. This primarly involves recharges to 
associates an other companies for services provided and some 
other shared expenses and projects.

Transactions and balances between the companies are eliminat-
ed at a Group level. Sale of products (Operating Revenue) be-
tween companies in the Group are carried out based on a cost 
plus method and in accordance with the arm’s length principle. 
Operating Expenses are allocated between the entities in the 
Group based partly on External Operating Revenue in the entities 
and partly on a functional analysis of which entity should incur 
the expenses.

2.4 - FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION AND TRANSACTIONS

Functional Currency and Presentation Currency
The accounts are measured in the currency used primarily in the 
economic area in which the entity operates (functional currency). 
The accounts are presented in Norwegian kroners (NOK), which is 
also the functional currency of the parent company.

2.8 - IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The group reviews the need for impairment of goodwill on an 
annual basis by assessing the recoverable amount of each 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  The recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal, and value 
in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a discount rate before 
tax and taking into consideration other relevant market factors.  
When the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating 
unit is less that the carrying amount, an impairment loss is rec-
ognised. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the group 
income statement and is not subsequently reversed.  

For all other non-financial assets, apart from inventories and 
deferred tax assets, the group performs impairment testing 
where there are indications of impairment. If such an indicator 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to deter-
mine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable 
amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of 
disposal. If the recoverable amount is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised im-
mediately in the Group income statement.  

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
is limited to the capitalized value the asset would have had after 
depreciation/amortisation if no impairment loss had been rec-
ognised in prior years. Reversals are recognised immediately as a 
credit to the Consolidated Statement of Income.

2.9 - INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group accounts for investments in associates using the equi-
ty method, as stated in IAS 28. 

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant 
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee without 
the power to control or jointly control those policies. If an entity 
holds, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting power of 
the investee, it is presumed that the entity has significant influ-
ence. 

Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in 
an associate is recognised at cost. Any deferred revenue arising 
from a transaction with an associate is netted against the invest-
ment at a Group level. The carrying amount is then increased or 
decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the subsequent 
profit or loss of the investee and to include that share of the in-
vestee’s profit or loss in the investor’s profit or loss. Distributions 
received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the in-
vestment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be nec-
essary for changes in the investor’s proportionate interest in the 
investee and for the investee’s other comprehensive income.

2.10 - INVENTORIES 

Inventories are measured based on the FIFO principle, and on the 
lowest value of historic cost and net realisable value.
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including insub-
stance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. 
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and pay-
ments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term re-
flects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group 
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commence-ment 
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readi-
ly determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of 
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., 
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index 
or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in 
the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group discounts the lease liability by using incremental bor-
rowing rates. The incremental borrowing rates are updated for 
evaluating new leases for  the relevant currency and lease term. 
The incremental borrowing rate is based on the risk free rate in 
the relevant currency plus the estimated credit premium for the 
Group.

2.16 - TAXES

Tax Payable
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on 
the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to 
the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years.  The 
amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements re-
flects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received.  It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred Tax
Deferred taxes are based on the temporary differences that arise 
when taxation authorities recognise and measure assets and lia-
bilities with rules that differ from the principles of the consolidat-
ed financial statements.  They also arise on temporary differenc-
es resulting from tax losses carried forward.  

No deferred tax is recognised for the initial recognition of good-
will and the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transac-
tion which is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction it affects neither the accounting or taxable profit.   

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and is recognised only to the extent that prob-
able sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the assets 
to be recovered.

2.17 – PENSIONS AND SHARE-BASED REMUNERATION

Pension
The company operates a pension contribution plan scheme for 
employees.  A defined contribution pension scheme is one un-
der which members pay contributions to an independently ad-
ministered fund, into which the group also pays contributions 
based upon a fixed percentage of the members’ annual salaries.  
Members’ benefits upon retirement are then determined by the 
amount of contributions paid into the fund, together with the 
performance of the investments into which those contributions 
have been invested.

Rendering of Services
Services, mainly consisting of accounting services and other re-
charges of project costs, are sold separately and are not bundled 
with the sales of product. The services are satisfied over time giv-
en that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 
benefits provided by the group, hence revenue is recognised for 
these service contracts over time.

Advances Received From Customers
The Group occasionally receives short-term advances from cus-
tomers.  This normally happens for new customers where pre-
payment is applicable until a sufficient credit check has been es-
tablished, or where customers have a history of late payment.  
The period between the receipt of the advance and the transfer 
of the goods to the customer in these situations is short, and the 
payment terms are not designed to provide financing. Hence, 
there is no significant financing element to these contracts.

2.20 – CASH FLOW

Cash flow analysis is done according to the indirect method.

2.21 – EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Events after the balance sheet date that provide information 
about conditions that existed on the balance sheet date or events 
indicating circumstances arising after the balance sheet date with 
accounting consequences, will be accounted for if significant.

2.22 – CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND INFORMATION

Standards implemented in 2020:

Amendments to IFRS 3 - Definition of a Business
Amendments to IFRS 3 are issued to help entities determine 
whether an acquired set of activities and assets are a business 
or not. These amendments narrow and clarify the definition of a 
business, and permit a simplified assessment of whether an ac-
quired set of activities and assets is a group of assets rather than 
a business. The amendments are effective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after January 1st, 2020.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 are issued to clarify the defini-
tion of material and how it should be applied. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1st, 
2020 and yr will apply them prospectively.

Not yet effective
The below amendments to IFRS applicable to the Group have 
been issued but were not yet effective on the balance sheet date 
that are relevant for the Group:

Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amend-
ments to IAS 37

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify 
which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a 
contract is onerous or loss-making.

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The 
costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services 
include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly 
related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do 
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are 
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

Members are able to choose the investments into which their 
contributions are invested, and as a result any risks associated 
with either the future value of benefits and the performance of 
the assets invested lie with the member. 

Share-Based Payment
The Group uses options made up in equity to pay for services. 
The fair value of the options or services received is recognized 
in the income statement over the vesting period. Share-based 
payment to employees and others providing equivalent services 
is measured at fair value of the equity instruments granted. The 
Group uses the Black Scholes model to measure the fair value of 
options and subscription rights. Volatility is calculated based on 
historical volatility.

2.18 - PROVISIONS

Provisions arise when NattoPharma has legal or otherwise pres-
ent obligations as a result of past events. The requirement for a 
provision is that the probability that the company will meet the 
obligation in the future is considered by the company to be over 
50%. In addition, it must be possible to estimate the amounts of 
the commitment reliably.

Provisions are measured at the present value of expected pay-
ments to meet the obligation.  Accruals are made when the com-
pany has an actual or assumed obligation regarding accrued non-
billed items that are likely to be paid and where the amount is 
adequately calculated. Accruals are made with pre-tax amounts 
that the company expects to pay and reflects market estimates 
of interest on the amounts and risks associated with the liability. 
Increases in accrual due to interest accruals are recognized as 
interest expenses. 

2.19 – REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue recognition is done in accordance with the five-step 
model in IFRS 15, which Is based on performance obligations in 
customer contracts and when control of a good or service trans-
fers to a customer.  

The group is in the business of selling both “natural” and syn-
thetically produced vitamin K2; MK7 to both manufacturers and 
distributors of finished products.  In addition to this the group 
also provides transitional services of management, R&D and ac-
counting to associated companies.

Sales of Goods
The contract with the customer begins following receipt and con-
firmation of the customer purchase order. The allocation of the 
transaction price to the performance obligation is a one to one 
relationship, with no bundled product offerings. The Group ex-
pects the revenue recognition to occur at a point in time when 
control of the asset is transferred to the customer. According to 
the standard Sales Terms and Conditions for the Group products 
are typically delivered EX WORKS at the company warehouse, and 
therefore the performance obligation is fulfilled when the goods 
are made available for collection, and this is the point at which 
control of the product transfers to the customer, and revenue is 
recognised. Under the standard Sales Terms and Conditions, the 
returns policy only allows for replacement of goods in the event 
of defects, when these are notified to the group in writing within 
30 days of the transfer of control. The group can typically objec-
tively determine that control of the goods has been transferred to 
the customer in accordance with the agreed-upon specifications 
in the contract.

2.11 - RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables and other receivables are initially recognised in 
the balance sheet at fair value and measured at amortized cost 
less provision for expected credit loss (ECL model in IFRS 9). Pro-
visions for losses are made on the basis of an individual assess-
ment of the individual receivables, and such provision occurs if 
there are indications that the company will not be able to collect 
the nominal amount of the claim. The provision is recognized in 
the income statement in the period it arises.

2.12 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits and ma-
turities within three months of the date of placement.

2.13 - SHARE CAPITAL

Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. When issuing new 
shares, expenses associated with the issue are recorded as a re-
duction of equity.

Cost of Equity Transactions
Transaction costs directly related to equity transactions and tax 
effects on equity transactions are recognized directly in equity af-
ter deduction of tax.

2.14 - GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Public grants are recognized in a systematic manner over the pe-
riods in which the company recognizes costs that the grant is in-
tended to compensate for. Grants are presented as part of other 
operating expenses, i.e. net of associated costs.

2.15 - LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, 
or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in ex-
change for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement ap-
proach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make 
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to 
use the underlying assets.

Right-of-Use Assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement 
date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for 
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets 
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct 
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the com-
mencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use 
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 
the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Lease Liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises 
lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments 
to be made over the lease term. 



58ANNUAL REPORT 2020 NATTOPHARMA57 THE NUMBERSPARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTSBOD REPORT CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS APMAUDITOR’S REPORT

Amount in NOK 1000 2020 2019

North America & South America 168 893 97 300

Europe 29 210 14 022

Asia Pacific 15 242 14 729

Rest of the World 1 124 1 068

Total Operating Revenue 214 468 127 119

Included in operating revenues are revenues of approximately 
NOK 31 million (2019: NOK 14 million) which arose from sales to 
the Group’s largest customer. No other single customers contrib-
uted 10 percent or more to the Group’s revenue in either 2019 
or 2018.

Other Income
Activities that are not allocated to Operating Income are present-
ed as Other Income. It primarily involves recharges to Kaydence 
Pharma AS for services provided and some other shared expens-
es and projects prior to the company becoming a subsidiary on 
June 30th, 2020, and recharges to other related parties.

Amount in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Recharges of Personnel Cost 3 232 3 869

Recharges of Other OpEx 268 162

Total Other Revenue 3 500 4 031

NOTE 4 OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE

Operating Revenue
The company operates one segment for reporting purposes. The 
company offers vitamin k2, in natural and synthetic form, in sev-
eral different geographic markets. Management considers risk 
profile and profitability to be approximately equal in all these 
geographic markets. Management and Board therefore consider 
the company’s operation as a unit in assessments and decisions 
regarding allocation of resources and investments.

The following table shows Operating Revenue broken down by 
the geographical areas where the Group sells its goods. The 
Group’s operations are primarly located in Poland, Cyprus and in 
the USA, with headquarters in Norway.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements is in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and the use of accounting policies requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The esti-
mates and underlying assumptions are based on historical ex-
perience and various other factors that are considered to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. The estimates and the underlying assump-
tions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. The accounting policies in which judgments, 
estimates and assumptions may significantly differ from actual 
results are discussed below.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Group assesses the need for impairment of goodwill and re-
lated intangible assets in the same cash generating unit (synthet-
ic K2 vitamin) on an annual basis. In addition, goodwill is tested 
for impairment if there are indicators of impairment. This implies 
that the value in use of the cash-generating unit as goodwill is 
estimated. Management must estimate future cash flows from 
the cash-generating unit and select a discount rate to calculate a 
present value of these cash flows. Changes to current estimates 
may lead to impairment losses in future periods. See note 10 for 
further information.

Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets from deferred tax losses are capitalized only 
to the extent that the corresponding future taxable profit is prob-
able.

NOTE 3 IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND DISCRETIONARY ASSESSMENTS

After generating taxable income for 3 years in a row in the Nor-
wegian tax jurisdiction, the Goup consideres it probable that suf-
ficient future taxable income will be generated to enable to group 
to utilize its tax loss carryforwards. The Group recognized NOK 
28.8 million in  deferred tax assets related to the parent compa-
ny, Nattopharma ASA. 

Share-based compensation
The Group estimates the fair values of options granted using the 
Black-Scholes model. Share-based compensation to employees 
and Board members are recognized at the fair value of the op-
tions granted at the grant date of the options. Management es-
timates the inputs to the model, such as volatility, expected life, 
etc which may have may have a material impact on the expense 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. See note 6 for fur-
ther information.

Estimating the related social security payable on any exercise of 
the options requires management to estimate the number of op-
tions that will eventually be exercised.

Important discretionary judgements using accounting princi-
ples

Accounting and measurement of intangible assets:
Applying the criteria for when development costs qualify for rec-
ognition as an intangible asset, and subsequent measurement 
are subject to significant discretion from management. The cost 
and recognition of internally generated intangible assets involves 
judgement as it includes work done by own employees. Although 
projects have been capitalized, uncertainty about the market and 
future margin development may exist, and consequently it is dif-
ficult to assess the recoverable amount in relation to impairment 
tests.

Amount in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Salary Cost 31 209 25 866

Employer Tax Cost 3 549 2 676

Employee Related Insurance 111 9

Pension Costs - Contribution Plans 503 316

Remuneration to Board and Election Committee 1) 1 768 412

Share and Option Cost 832 731

Other Personnel Cost 1 302 932

Total Personnel Cost 39 274 30 942

Number of Man-Years in Norway 7.9 8.3

Number of Man-Years Outside of Norway 18.0 18.3

NOTE 5 SALARY, PERSONNEL COST AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

1) Renumeration to the Board includes NOK 1 426 000 in share-based compensation incl. social security accrual.

Specification of salary and remuneration to senior executives is 
mentioned in note 21. 

The total personnel cost include cost for recharged personnel 
as disclosed in note 4. Total recharged personnel cost for 2020 
amount to NOK 3.2 million (2019: NOK 3.9 million). 

Number of man-years include contracted personnel, respectively 
10.0 in 2020 and 9.9 in 2019. 

The company is required to have a compulsory pension plan in 
accordance with the Norwegian Act on Compulsory Occupational 
Pensions (“Compulsory Occupational Pensions Act”). The com-
pany has signed a defined contribution pension agreement with 
DNB Livsforsikring, which goes beyond the requirements of this 
Act.

The agreement is based on a premium payment of 7.0% for in-
come between 1G and 7,1G (G = 101 351) and 13% of income 
between 7,1 and 12G. The scheme includes disability insurance. 
In addition, a group life scheme has been agreed based on a re-
placement equivalent to 15G at death. 

From  2019,  the company offers its employees in the United 
States the opportunity to participate in a 401K plan.

Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, 
the Board has prepared a statement on the determination of 
salary and other remuneration to the CEO and other senior ex-
ecutives.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1st, 2022. The Group will apply these 
amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its 
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in 
which it first applies the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 
to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities 
as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement.
• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting 

period.
• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an en-

tity will exercise its deferral right.
• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability 

is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability 
not impact its classification.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1st, 2023 and must be applied ret-
rospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the 
amendments will have on current practice and whether existing 
loan agreements may require renegotiation.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF THE MOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES CONT.

Amendments to IAS 16 – Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1st, 2022. They prohibits entities from deducting 
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment (PP&E), 
any proceeds of the sale of items produced while bringing that 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an 
entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the 
costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.

Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Frame-
work 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1st, 2022. They add an exception to the recogni-
tion principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of potential “day 2” gains 
or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would 
be within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separately. 
The exception requires entities to apply the criteria in IAS 37 or 
IFRIC 21, respectively, instead of the Conceptual Framework, to 
determine whether a present obligation exists at the acquisition 
date. At the same time, the amendments add a new paragraph to 
IFRS 3 to clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recogni-
tion at the acquisition date.
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Name Options 01.01.2020 Granted 2020 Exercised 2020 Options 31.12.2020

Kjetil Ramsøy 225 100 50 000 -50 000 225 100

Robert Schrama 0 30 000 -30 000 0

Schedule of outstanding options as at December, 31st:

2020 2019

Number of Options Average Exercise Price Number of Options Average Exercise Price

Outstanding January 1st 1 705 800 9.70 1  458 300 9.79

Awarded During the Year 435 000 12.50 592 500 9.81

Terminated During the Year -311 450 9.66 -45 000 8.87

Exercised During the Year -428 500 9.78 0 0

Matured During the Year -200 000 9.00 -300 000 10.50

Outstanding per December 
31st

1 200 850 10.81 1 705 800 9.70

Board of Directors 400 000 12.90 500 000 9.80

Senior Executives 225 100 9.42 225 100 9.38

Other Employees and Part-
ners

575 750 9.89 980 700 9.72

Outstanding per December 
31st

1 200 850 10.81 1 705 800 9.70

The average fair value of options granted in 2020 was NOK 3.43. 
The average remaining contractual maturity at December 31st, 
2020 was 1.55 year.

The weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair 
value of options in the Black-Scholes options pricing model is 
shown in the following table:

2020

Fair Value Per Option 3.43

Share Price on Measurement Date 12.50

Volatility 43.58%

Expected Life 2.46

Interest 0.69%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Property Expenses 545 342

Travel Cost 371 2 243

Sales and Marketing Cost 1 874 2 998

Audit, Legal and Accounting Expenses 7 243 1 897

Research and Development Cost 8 290 4 690

Other Operating Costs 4 321 4 337

Total Other Operating Expenses 22 645 16 507

NOTE 7 SPECIFICATION OF OTHER OPERATING COSTS

Specification of remuneration to the auditor:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Statutory Audit 778 594

Tax Advice 0 49

Other Services 81 12

Total Remuneration to the Auditor 859 654

NOTE 8 TAX

In 2020, the Group recognized the previous unrecognized net deferred tax asset related to the Norwegian tax jurisdiction. After generating 
taxable income for 3 years in a row in the Norwegian tax jurisdiction, the Goup consideres it probable that sufficient future taxable income 
will be generated to enable the group to utilize its tax loss carryforwards. The Group recognized NOK 28.8 million in deferred tax assets 
in 2020.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Taxes Payable 5 043 308

Deferred Tax -29 581 -743

Income Tax Expense/(Income) -24 538 -435

Tax expense for the year:

NOTE 6 SHARE BASED REMUNERATION

Expenses associated with share and option allocations in the accounts are presented in the table below:

Options Granted in 2019 
Based on the power of attorney granted at the annual general 
meeting of NattoPharma ASA (“NattoPharma” or “Company”) on 
May 30th, 2018, and the option program related to defined oper-
ational objectives approved by the Board of Directors in 2018, 
the Board of Directors of NattoPharma has in board proceedings 
February 12th, 2019 granted a total of 292 500 options to execu-
tive management, other employees and strategic partners. The 
options have an exercise price equal the closing price on Oslo 
Axess on February 12th, 2019, which is equal to NOK 9.00. The 
options granted are vested immediately and may be exercised up 
to and including March 31st, 2023.

The Board of Directors received through a resolution at the Annu-
al General Assembly on May 29th, 2019, a total of 300 000 options 
as form of remuneration related to the work performed during 
2018/2019. The options are vested immediately upon grant and 
can be exercised within May 29th, 2021. The strike price is NOK 
10.60 per share option and is equal to the closing share price on 
the Oslo Stock Exchange on May 29th, 2019. 

The following persons on the executive management team have 
been granted options:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Equity-Settled Option Awards 1 493 731

Social Security Accrual on Options 763 0

Share-Based Compensation 2 256 731

Options Granted in 2020
Based on the authorization provided by the annual general 
shareholders’ meeting of Nattopharma ASA on 29th, May 2019, 
the Board of Directors granted 185 000 options to employees and 
others providing similar services on February 18th, and March 9th. 
The options had an exercise price equal to the closing price of 
the shares on the stock exchange on the grant date (NOK 9.20 on 
February 18th, and NOK 7.00 on March 9th). The options vested on 
the grant date and are exercisable for a period of 3 years until the 
expiry date on March 31st, 2023.

Additionally, the annual shareholders meeting on June 19th, 2020 
granted 250 000 options to the Board members at an exercise 
price of NOK 15.20 per share. The options vested on the grant 
date and are exercisable until the expiry date on June 19th, 2022.

Options are granted based on performance against defined crite-
ria and metrics. The annual shareholders meeting authorized the 
issuance of up to 1 941 000 shares for the share-based compen-
sation program.

NOTE 6 SHARE BASED REMUNERATION CONT.
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Other Intangible Assets

Amounts in NOK 1000 Good
-will

Ac-
quired 

Tech-
nology

Soft-
ware

Ac-
quired 
Rights

Patents Capi-
talized 
Devel-

opment 
Costs

Assets 
Under 

Con-
struc-

tion

Total 
Other 
Intan-
gible 

Assets

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2019 7 507 58 802 2 204 1 908 1 798 0 2 845 67 557

Acquisitions 0 0 102 0 330 0 14 284 14 716

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes (63) (500) 0 0 42 0 0 (458)

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2019 7 444 58 302 2 306 1 908 2 170 0 17 129 81 815

Acquisitions 0 0 0 0 45 128 0 7 493 52 621

Transfer 0 0 0 0 0 23 895 (23 895) 0

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes 457 3 585 0 0 24 0 0 3 609

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2020 7 901 61 887 2 306 1 908 47 322 23 895 727 138 045

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2019 0 29 272 724 1 201 1 798 0 0 32 995

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 0 5 947 452 122 104 0 0 6 625

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0 (240) 0 0 0 0 0 (240)

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2019 0 34 979 1 176 1 323 1 902 0 0 39 380

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 0 6 475 462 122 3 238 0 0 10 297

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0 1 997 0 0 6 0 0 2 003

Accumulated Depreciation, December 31st, 2020 0 43 451 1 638 1 445 5 146 0 0 51 680

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2020 7 901 18 436 668 463 42 176 23 895 727 86 365

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2019 7 444 23 323 1 130 585 268 0 17 129 42 436

Balance Sheet Value January 1st, 2019 7 507 29 530 1 480 707 0 0 2 845 34 562

NOTE 10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTE 8 TAX CONT.

Potentially dilutive shares consists of 1.2 million options as at December 31st, 2020.

Potentially dilutive shares were not included in calculation of diluted earnings per share in 2019 since the result was negative, the effect 
would be anti-dilutive.

See also note 16 “Share Capital”.

Basic Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual profit by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year less own shares held as at December 31st, 2020.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Earnings

Profit or Loss Attributable to Ordinary Equity Holders of Parent 70 526 -13 696

Weighted Average Number of Shares Issued for Basic EPS (Number of Shares 
in 1000)

19 493 18 179

Effects of Dilution from:

Share-Options 384 0

Weighted Average Number of Shares Adjusted for the Effect 19 878 18 179

Basic Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 3.62 -0.75

Diluted Earnings per Share from Continued Operations 3.55 -0.75

NOTE 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Result Before Taxes 44 054 -14 131

Nominal Tax Rate 22% 22%

Expected Tax Expense 9 692 -3 109

Tax Effect of Non-Deductible Expenses 1 263 33

Tax Effect of SkatteFunn -676 -352

Prior Period Adjustment -182 0

Recognized Deferred Tax Asset from Prior Years -34 769 0

Change in Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets 307 2 889

Taxes for the Year -24 538 -435

The following table shows a reconciliation between expected tax based on profit before tax and nominal tax rate and actual tax expense/
(income):

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Deferred Tax Assets 28 820 0

Deferred Tax Liabilities -2 305 -2 915

Total 26 515 -2 915

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Intangible Asset -2 278 -3 526

Property, Plant and Equipment 17 21

Deferred Taxable Gain/Loss -5 902 -7 378

Impairment of Long-Term Receivable 0 4 779

Leases 12 12

Accrued Expenses 168 0

Tax Loss Carryforward 34 498 38 792

Net Deferred Tax Asset 26 515 32 700

Tax effect of temporary differences:

Comparable numbers for 2019 to reflect the final tax filing of Nattopharma ASA. Recognized in the statement of financial position:

NOTE 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE CONT.
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Ownership

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

NattoPharma USA, Inc., Edison, NJ, USA 100% 100%

NattoPharma R&D Ltd., Nicosia, Cyprus 100% 100%

Kaydence Pharma AS 54.15% 46.41%

NOTE 12 SUBSIDIARIES/ASSOCIATE

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Finished Goods 49 353 33 667

Total 49 353 33 667

NOTE 13 INVENTORY

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Trade Receivables 26 252 14 370

Other Receivables:

SkatteFunn and Other Grants 2 864 5 093

Prepayments 3 043 3 007

Other Receivables 1 506 5 818

Total Other Receivables 7 413 13 918

Total Trade and Other Receivables 33 665 28 288

NOTE 14 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The age distribution of accounts receivable at December 31st, 2020 is as follows:

Trade Receivables Aging Not due 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days > 91 days Total

Percentage Share 48.79% 46.39% 2.26% 0.33% 2.23% 100%

The Group has made no provisions against bad debts in 2020. A bad debt accrual of NOK 65 000 from 2019 was written off during the year 
(2019: NOK 70 000 from a bad debt provision in 2018 was written off).

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31st, 2020 includes payroll tax deductions of NOK 546 801 (2019: NOK 663 615) and a further-
more, the company has provided security for rent with NOK 439 436 and USD 55 584.

NOTE 15 BANK DEPOSITS

See note 22 for changes in ownership in Kaydence Pharma AS in 2020 leading to the company becoming a subsidiary.

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The Group has recorded no obsolence as at December 31st, 2020. His-
torical obsolence have been low. Obsolsent products are returned, re-mixed and re-sold, or used for R&D or sampling. 

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating asset is estimat-
ed based on the calculation of value in use (VIU). VIU is calculated 
based on estimated operating cash flow (EBITDA), prepared by 
the Group’s management, adjusted for investments and chang-
es in working capital. These assumptions are based on manage-
ment’s best estimate at the accounting date and the cash flow 
estimates cover a five-year period in addition to a terminal value. 

Management has used an estimate of annual growth over the 
five-year period reflecting the structure management expects 
during the period, where the five-year growth rate is 20% in 2021 
and then from 20% to 27% the following 4 years. The growth rate 
in the terminal period (more than 5 years) is 0%. No significant 
investments are expected and the cash flow is estimated to be 
positive from year 1. The discount rate used is 12.1%. The esti-
mated VIU is significantly higher than the carrying amounts of the 
assets of the cash generating unit.

The company uses straight-line amortization for all intangible as-
sets.

The economic life is intended for:
• Patents     10 years
• Purchased synthetic K2 technology  10 years
• Internally developed process technology 10 years

An internally developed development project related to the de-
velopment of improved process technology for synthetic vitamin 
K2 was completed in cooperation with an external research orga-
nization in the USA. The amortization of the technology started 
on January 1st, 2021.

Patents
The increase in patents in 2020 includes NOK 44.2 million allocat-
ed to the patent portfolion acquired through the acquisition of 
Kaydence Pharma AS as described in note 22.

ANNUAL IMPAIRMENT TEST
Goodwill and intangible assets associated with the acquisition of 
NattoPharma R&D Ltd. (Vitasynth Ltd.) in 2013 and related syn-
thetic K2 process technology have been tested for impairment as 
at December 31st, 2020.

Amounts in NOK 1000 Hardware Refurbishment 
of Rented Offices

Lab Equipment 
and Tools

Total Fixed Assets

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2019 214 474 1 423 2 110

Acquisitions 85 57 45 187

Disposals 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0 3 0 3

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2019 299 534 1 468 2 301

Acquisitions 271 7 0 278

Disposals 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes (10) (8) 0 (18)

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2020 560 533 1 468 2 561

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2019 154 96 1 260 1 509

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 34 72 165 271

Disposals 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0 2 0 2

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2019 188 170 1 425 1 782

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 93 41 9 143

Disposals 0 0 0 0

Exchange Rate Changes (4) (3) 0 (7)

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2020 277 208 1 434 1 918

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2020 284 325 34 643

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2019 112 364 43 519

Balance Sheet Value January 1st, 2019 60 378 163 601

NOTE 11 TANGIBLE ASSETS

The company uses straight-line depreciation for all tangible fixed assets.

The economic life of the assets are calculated as:

• Hardware (computers and other IT equipment): linear 3 years
• Other investments:    linear 5 years  
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NOTE 18 BORROWINGS

The Group had the following outstanding interest-bearing loans at December 31st:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Currency Interest Maturity 2020 2019

Pro AS NOK Fixed 6% 07.01.2021 6 000 6 000

Wells Fargo USD 1% 07.05.2022 1 588 0

Total 7 588 6 000

The loan was extended in the beginning of January 2021 with new maturity date on June 15th, 2021. The interest on the loan was reduced 
to 3% per year. All of the principal is due on the maturity date. The loan is denominated in NOK and is unsecured.

The loan is from Pro AS which is a shareholder in Nattopharma ASA.

The Wells Fargo loan has a maturity date in 2022 but is expected to be settled in 2021 and has been classified as a current liability.

Credit facility:

In October 2020, Nattopharma ASA entered into a credit facility agreement of NOK 10 million with DnB. The agreement runs for a period of 
1 year (expires in October 2021) but with the possibility of annual renewals. The interest term on the drawn amount is NIBOR 1 month in-
terest plus a credit margin of 2.5%. Additionally, there is a provision premium of 1% of the credit facility amount per annum (NOK 100 000). 

There are a number of covenants including a minimum annual EBITDA (Adj.) for the Group. EBITDA (Adj.) should be NOK 20 mill on a 12 
month basis.

The credit facility is secured by the following assets:

The range of discount rates used to measure lease liabilities is 4-8%. 

The following are the amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Depreciation Expense of Right-of-Use Assets 933 1 052

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 95 158

Expense Related to Short-Term Leases 102 0

Total Amount Recognized in Profit or Loss 1 130 1 210

The Group had total cash outflow of NOK 1 091 000 related to leases in 2020, including short-term leases. (2019: 1 150 000).

Amounts in NOK 1000 Amounts of Security Carrying Amount of 
Pledged Security

Property Plant and Equipment 10 000 271

Inventory 10 000 18 451

Trade Receivables 10 000 5 824

Shares in Kaydence Pharma AS (54.15%) 0 0

Total 30 000 24 546

NOTE 17 LEASES CONT.

Number of Shares Own Shares Face Value Share Capital

Outstanding Shares January 1st, 2019 18 179 933 -7 143           3.00 54 518 370

Share Issues 0 0 0 0

Redemption Employee Options 0 0 3.00 0

Outstanding Shares December 31st, 2019 18 179 933 (7 143) 3.00 54 518 370

Share Issues 1 235 000 0 3.00 3 705 000

Redemption Employee Options 428 500 0 3.00 1 285 500

Outstanding Shares December 31st, 2020 19 843 433 (7 143) 3.00 59 508 870

The share capital for the company is NOK 59 530 299 divided into 19 843 433 shares, each with a face value of NOK 3.  In addition, the 
company owns 7 143 shares at a face value of NOK 3, valued at a total of NOK 21 429.

On January 7th, 2020, a share issue of 1 235 000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK 11.50 was completed. 

Additionally, 428 500 shares were issued in 2020 upon exercises of options by Board members and employees.

The annual general meeting of shareholders on June 19th, 2020 authorized the issue of up to:

• 3 882 000 shares in share issues for additional liquidity or for acquisitions.
• 1 941 000 shares for the Group’s share-compenation program.

NOTE 16 SHARE CAPITAL

Amounts in NOK 1000 Office Leases Total

As at January 1st, 2019 2 627 2 627

Additions 23 23

Depreciation -1 052 -1 052

As at December 31st, 2019 1 598 1 598

Additions 5 894 5 894

Depreciation -933 -933

Currency Effect -104 -104

As at December 31st, 2020 6 455 6 455

NOTE 17 LEASES

The Group has a number of lease agreements, primarily for office leases. 

The rollforward of the carrying amount of the Group’s Right-Of-Use (“ROU”) assets is as follows:

The Group entered into a 7-year office lease in the US in December 2020. In Norway, the office lease has a remaining term of 1 year. The 
ROU assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the lease and expected useful life.

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilies and the movement during the period is shown in the following table:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Office Leases Total

As at January 1st, 2019 2 627 2 627

Additions 23 23

Accretion of Interest 158 158

As at December 31st, 2019 1 658 1 658

Additions 5 894 5 894

Accretion of Interest 95 95

Payments -989 -989

Currency Effect -103 -103

As at December 31st, 2020 6 555 6 555
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2019:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Lease 
Liabilities

Borrowings 1) Trade 
Payables

Other Short-term 
Debt

Total

0 - 6 Months 524 6 007 29 185 7 352 43 067

6 - 12 Months 440 0 0 0 440

1 - 2 Years 758 0 0 0 758

2 - 3 Years 31 0 0 0 31

Total 1 753 6 007 29 185 7 352 44 296

1) NOK 358 000 of interest expense related to borrowings is accrued and included in other short-term debt.

Currency Exchange Risk
The expenses in the Group are mainly demoninated in NOK, USD, and EUR, while revenues are mainly in USD and EUR. The exposure to 
currency risk is continuously monitored. 

Based on yearly average rates from December 31st, 2019 to December 31st, 2020, EURO strenghened and USD weakened against Norwe-
gian kroners by approximately 8.8% and 6.8%, respectively. The Euro strengthened against the USD by approximately 1.9%.

The Group’s management and the Board have continuously assessed the risk and have not seen the need to implement measures to limit 
the currency risk.  The Group operates with different currencies that impact different parts of the financials, and this creates a partial nat-
ural foreign exchange rate hedging situation. However, if necessary, financial instruments such as futures will be evaluated to reduce this 
exposure, especially In cases where credit will be given to major customers.

Credit Risk
Credit risk has been limited due to the use of advance payments on delivery for new customers, as well as limited credit for the largest 
customers. This situation is changing as new contracts are negotiated with major international customers that require significant credit 
periods. This will place greater demands on monitoring and the follow-up of the continuous credit exposure, and the company has imple-
mented credit evaluation and follow-up procedures to accommodate and mitigate this risk. The maximum credit exposure is the Group’s 
trade receivables of NOK 26.3 million.

Interest Rate Risk
The company is, to a limited extent, exposed to risk with regard to future interest rate fluctuations, beyond the above-mentioned currency 
exposure, and there are low deposit rates on surplus liquidity, which are managed based on a low-risk strategy. The company’s excess 
liquidity is placed on the account with DNB Bank ASA.

A significant increase in the overall interest rate level may adversely affect the company’s results. Increased interest rate risk can also affect 
capital costs and reduce the possibility of acquiring new capital in the future, if necessary.

Amounts in NOK 1000 Lease 
Liabilities

Borrowings 1) Trade 
Payables

Other Short-term 
Debt

Total

0 - 6 Months 1 055 6 009 40 786 15 776 63 626

6 - 12 Months 656 1 604 0 0 2 260

1 - 2 Years 890 0 0 0 890

2 - 3 Years 916 0 0 0 916

3 - 5 Years 1 914 0 0 0 1 914

More than 5 Years 2 029 0 0 0 2 029

Total 7 460 7 613 40 786 15 776 71 635

1) NOK 358 000 of interest expense related to borrowings is accrued and included in other short-term debt.

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK CONT.

Contractual maturity table:

The following table shows the contractual maturity ranges of financial liabilities. The amounts include estimated future interest payments 
(not yet accrued), so the amounts are not directly reconcilable to recognized liabilities that are stated at amortized cost.

2020:

NOTE 19 OTHER SHORT-TERM DEBT

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Accrued Costs 8 221 3 014

Accrued Interest 361 358

Social Security Accrual on Options 763 0

Public Duties Payable 655 377

Other Short-term Debt 6 539 3 603

Total 16 539 7 352

The social security accrual is related to options (see note 6 “Share-Based Renumeration). Social security is paid on the intrinsic value of the 
options when exercised. The accrual is based on the estimated number of options that are expected to be exercised.

The pledged security represents the carrying amount of the assets in Nattopharma ASA but adjusted for eliminations on group level to 
adjust to the carrying amount of the assets in the Group accounts.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities in the cash flow statement:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Balance December 
31st, 2019

Cash Flows Non-Cash
Fireign Exchange 

Movements

Balance December 
31st, 2020

Pro AS 6 000 0 0 6 000

Wells Fargo 0 1 992 -404 1 588

Total Liabilities for Financing Activities 6 000 1 992 -404 7 588

NOTE 18 BORROWINGS

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk, currency risk, credit risk and risk related to interest rates.

Liquidity Risk
NattoPharma is continuously focusing on Research and Development (R&D) of its production technologies, finding new ways to reduce 
costs and new distribution methods for vitamin K2 in general. During 2020 the company added capacity for both its natural and synthetic 
products. In 2019 the second phase of a development project was finished to improve the produc
tion method of synthetic K2, with productions starting in 2021. This is estimated to result in a significant increase in access to a commercial-
ly competitive product. At the same time the company is investing in working capital to support the planned growth. During 2020 the com-
pany did a private placement towards two existing shareholders to support the working capital requirements in the current growth phase.

Barring any unforeseen events, the management’s assessment is that the company’s liquidity by the end of 2020 included the aforemen-
tioned private placement, and updated forecasts for the short and medium term, indicate that new share issues will not be required for 
operational needs. Any new investments, other than ordinary operations, may however entail the risk that future capital requirements will 
arise.

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK
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NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES CONT.

The main principles for executive remuneration policy and remuneration in the financial year 2020 have been as follows;

Compensation Must be Competitive, But not Market Leading
Managerial salaries, as a general guideline, should be suitable for attracting and retaining skilled executives in order to increase value cre-
ation in the company and contribute to combined interests between management and shareholders. Total remuneration shall generally be 
at the level of remuneration to senior executives in comparable industries, companies and positions in the country in which the individual 
leader is located.

Compensation Must be Motivating
The managerial salary should be structured to drive motivation and encourage improvements in results and shareholder values. In gen-
eral, remuneration can consist of five elements: base salary, short-term incentives (bonus), long-term incentives (options), benefits and 
retirement benefits.

The variable remuneration, short and long term, should be linked to value creation for shareholders over time. The variable remuneration 
shall be determined both on the basis of individual and company-related goals.

The long-term incentives are option-based and in accordance with the current option program approved by the General Assembly.

Compensation Should be Flexible, to Allow Adjustments Over Time
In order to offer competitive pay, the company must have a flexible system that can accommodate changes as the company and markets 
develop.

Principles for Base Salary
The fixed salary should reflect the individual’s area of responsibility and performance over time. The company offers base salary levels 
which are competitive, but not market leading in the market in which we operate.

Principles of Benefits Given in Addition to the Basic Salary
Base salary is the main element of remuneration for senior executives. Other and variable remuneration is, at the time of grant, subject to 
the determination of special maximum amounts, depending on the position of each employee.

The following refers to the individual benefits given in addition to the base salary. Unless specifically mentioned, there are no special terms, 
limits or award criteria for the mentioned remuneration.

Short-Term Incentive/Bonus Scheme
The company has established a bonus scheme  within the Group. The bonus scheme is a short-term incentive plan with a timeframe of 
one year. The bonus scheme is a global incentive program designed to motivate and incentivize eligible employees for the contributions 
they make towards meeting the company’s financial and business objectives. The plan is based on transparent and measurable pillars:

• Revenue (group and (if applicable) region) and,
• Group earnings. 

The performance goals are approved by the Board. Further the bonus scheme includes personal development goals for each eligible em-
ployee agreed with their direct manager.

The target bonus for the CEO is 33.3% of gross salary. For all other participants the individual target bonus ranges  between 7.5% and 15% 
of gross base salary. The bonus can increase to maximum 200% of the target bonus.

For the CEO and CFO the Board has approved an additional incentive scheme to warrant that in case of a change of control event the share-
holder and management interest are aligned. The scheme ranges from 0% - 100% bonus based on achieved share price. The thresholds 
have been set by the Board in alignment with information available and obtained from analysist and external advisors.

Long-Term Incentive/Share Option Program
The Board of Directors has established a share option program for executives and selected managers. It is in the company’s conviction 
that it is positive for long-terms value creation in the group this this management group hold shares and share options in the company.
Granted share options vest at the date of grant and have an exercise period of two years. Final grant is at the discretion of the Board.
In 2020 (for 2019 performance) 13 executives, directors and managers were granted option in the company. In total 435 000 optins have 
been granted in 2020. The individual LTI target is based on the role and responsibility and is increased with higher responsibility/grade.

Pension Schemes and Insurance
Senior executives participate in the company’s pension scheme, which is a defined contribution scheme which involves payment of be-
tween 7.00% and 13.00% of the employee’s salary, up to a maximum of 12 times the basic amount (G) in the Norwegian National Insurance 
Scheme (Folketrygden). The pension obligations also include disability.

Other Compensation Elements
Executives are granted benegfits in kind according to the applicable market standard. These are typically cell phone, internet connection, 
newspapers or alternatively cost reimbursement to cover for the actual costs. There are no special restrictions on what other benefits can 
be agreed upon.

(1) For Robert Schrama, other renumeration includes NOK 569 000 invoiced for consulting services for the period prior to formal employment in 
June 2020.

NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Benefits to the Board and senior executives.

2020:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Salary Other 
Remuneration

Board Fees/
Election 

Comm

Pension Costs Exercised 
Options

Total

Management

Kjetil Ramsøy (CEO) 2 166 467 63 350 3 046

Robert Schrama (CFO)(1) 1 085 581 32 270 1 968

Board of Directors

Frode M. Bohan (Chairman) 703 55 50 31 0 839

Katarzyna Z. Maresz 0 0 50 0 0 50

Stefan Halldén 0 0 50 0 100 150

Sjur Thorsheim 0 0 50 0 520 570

Annette Elmqvist 0 0 50 0 100 150

Election Committee

Frank Bjordal (Chairman) 0 0 30 0 0 30

Kim Øien 0 0 20 0 0 20

Total Benefits 3 954 1 103 300 126 1 340 6 823

Amounts in NOK 1000 Salary Other 
Remuneration

Board Fees/
Election 

Comm

Pension Costs Exercised 
Options

Total

Management

Kjetil Ramsøy (CEO and CFO) 1 965 508 61 0 2 534

Board of Directors

Frode M. Bohan (Chairman) 521 0 50 31 0 602

Katarzyna Z. Maresz 0 0 50 0 0 50

Stefan Halldén 0 0 50 0 0 50

Sjur Thorsheim 0 0 50 0 0 50

Annette Elmqvist 0 0 50 0 0 50

Election Committee

Frank Bjordal (Chairman) 0 0 30 0 0 30

Kim Øien 0 0 20 0 0 20

Total Benefits 2 486 508 300 92 0 3 386

2019:

2020 Management Team
Frode M. Bohan, Working Chairman
Kjetil Ramsøy, CEO
Robert Schrama, CFO

Pursuant to Section 6-16 a) of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act, cf. Section 5-6, third paragraph, the General Assembly shall con-
sider the Board’s remuneration guidelines for the coming year.

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining the remuneration of the CEO and the CEO is in consultation with the 
Board again responsible for determining the remuneration of senior executives.
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2020:

Acquisition of subsidiary

On June 30th, 2020 the Group acquired an additional 800 000 shares of Kaydence Pharma AS (“Kaydence”) through a debt to equity con-
version of NOK 4 million (NOK 5 per share). Hereupon, the Group holds 54.15% of the outstanding shares of Kaydence and has obtained 
control of the company through this transaction. Prior to the acquisition, the Group owned 46.41% of Kaydence and accounted for the 
investment in associate by using the equity method. No transaction costs has been included in the acquisition cost of Kaydence. 

In January 2020 the board of Kaydence suspended the activities and the CEO was released from his duties accordingly. In order to protect 
the claim patents important to the Group’s activities and for Kaydence to improve its equity position it was agreed to convert some of the 
outstanding debt to equity as at June 30th, 2020.

At the shareholders meeting following the acquisition, the former board of Kaydence was replaced by Kjetil Ramsøy as the Chairman of the 
Board and Robert Schrama as Director.

The acquisition of Kaydence was considered an acquisition of a group of net assets rather than a business combination since substantially 
all of the company’s operating activities had ceased at the beginning of 2020. The purpose of the acquisition was primarily to gain control 
over Kaydence’s patent portfolio related to vitamin K2. 

The following table shows the allocation of the consideration for the acquisition:

NOTE 22 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY/ASSOCIATE

Amounts in NOK 1000

Financial Assets 1 219

Identifiable Intangible Assets (Patents) 44 236

Financial Liabilities -2 206

Total Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed 43 249

Satisfied by:

Cash 0

Conversion of Debt to Equity -4000

Total Consideration Transferred -4000

Net Cash Outflow Arising on Acquisition:

Cash Consideration 0

Less: Cash and Cash Equivalents Balances Acquired -248

Total -248

Non-Controlling Interest

Non-Controlling Interest 45.85%

Non-Controlling Interest’s Share of Identifiable Assets and Liability 12 703

Kaydence’s net loss for the period January 1st to June 30th, 2020 was NOK 4.9 million. Had Kaydence been acquired on January 1st, 2020, 
then the Groups results would have been NOK 7.3 million lower (including amortization of acquired intangible assets for an 6 months). The 
Group’s result before income taxes for 2020 would have been reduced from the NOK 44.1 million reported to NOK 37.7 million (pro forma).

Material partly owned subsidiaries:

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interest:

Name Country of Incorpora-
tion and Operations

2020

Kaydence Pharma AS Norway 45.85%

Amounts in NOK 1000 Position No. of Shares Shares Controlled Options

Frode M. Bohan 1) 2) Chairman 3 383 577 17.05% 100 000

Kjetil Ramsøy 3) CEO 350 000 1.76% 225 100

Robert Schrama CFO 33 000 0.17% 0

Stefan Halldén Board Member 292 010 1.47% 100 000

Sjur Thorsheim 4) Board Member 2 822 310 14.22% 0

Katarzyna Z. Maresz Board Member 25 000 0.13% 100 000

Anette Elmqvist Board Member 50 000 0.25% 100 000

Kim Øien Deputy Board Member 200 000 1.01%

Total 7 155 897 36.06% 625 100

1) Shares indirectly owned by Bohan & Co. AS, ImmunoPharma AS, and Patrycia Ratusinska.
2) Frode Bohan and Kim Øien jointly own directly or indirectly more than 50% of the outstanding shares in Immunopharma AS that controls the
1 735 122 held by its subsidiary TG Montgomery AS. The shares have been included under Frode M. Bohan.
3) 300 000 shares indirectly owned by Cinco Invest AS, while 50 000 shares are owned by Kjetil Ramsøy directly.
4) Shares indirectly owned by Pro AS (2 701 310), Sjur Thorsheim directly (100 000) and Grethe Eggesbøe Thorsheim (21 000).

NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES CONT.

The CEO is entitled to a severance pay equal to six months base salary on certain conditions. In case of a change of control event the sev-
erance pay can equal to fifteen months base salary. The severance pay is calculated from the end of the notice period. 

Loans and Guarantees
No loans or guarantees are in place to related parties and senior executives as at December 31st, 2020.

Other Benefits
Other variable items may be used in the remuneration or assigned different separate benefits than those mentioned above, provided that 
this is considered appropriate to attract and / or retain a senior executive. No special limitations have been decided on the type of benefits 
that can be agreed upon.

Shares controlled directly and indirectly by board members and senior executives as at December 31st, 2020.

Amounts in NOK 1000 Transactions

Name Related Party Balance December 31st Revenue Purchases Interest

Pro AS 2) Sjur Thorsheim (6 361) 0 0 (361)

Bohan & Co AS 4) Frode Bohan 341 1 048 0 0

Tape Poland 1) Frode Bohan 11 0 556 0

Transactions with related parties:

2020:

2019:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Transactions

Name Related Party Balance 
December 31st

Revenue/Other 
Income

Purchases Loan Impair-
ment

Interest

Kaydence Pharma 
AS 3)

Associated 
Entity

19 880 3 139 -15 973 2 605

Pro AS 2) Sjur Thorsheim -6 358 -358

TG Montgomery AS Kim Øien -135 16 -535

Bohan & Co AS 4) Frode Bohan 225 880

Tape Poland 1) Frode Bohan -4 -268

1) Tape Poland Sp Z.o.o. deliver IT-related services to NattoPharma. Frode Bohan is a major shareholder in Tape International AS, the parent com-
pany to Tape Poland.
2) Pro AS is a major shareholder in NattoPharma, and owned by Board Member Sjur Thorsheim. The interest expense relates to a short-term loan 
in 2020 (and 2019).
3) Kaydence Pharma AS became a subsidiary on June 30th, 2020.
4) The revenue from Bohan & Co in 2020 and 2019 represent recharge of salary from Nattopharma Inc. in the US.
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NOTE 22 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY/ASSOCIATE CONT.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2019

Current Assets 3 316

Non-Current Assets 35 000

Current Liabilities -1 787

Non-Current Liabilities -53 633

Equity -17 104

Summarized information from the statement of profit or loss:

Nattopharma has not recognized its share of losses in the associate using the equity method in 2019 since the carrying amount of the 
investment was reduced to 0. The summarized financial information for Kaydence has been adjusted for differences between Norwegian 
GAAP and IFRS.

2019

Amounts in NOK 1000 As Reported

Other Income 1 816

Operating Expenses -35 898

Operating Loss -34 082

Finance Costs -2 612

Proft or Loss for the Period -36 694

The following tables shows summarized financial information from the accounts of Kaydence AS:

Summarized information from the statement of financial position:

NOTE 22 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY/ASSOCIATE CONT.

Summarised statement of financial position as at December 31st, 2020:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Kaydence Pharma AS

Current Assets 3 918

Non-Current Assets 41 340

Current Liabilities -4 491

Non-Current Liabilities -52 589

Total Equity -11 822

Payable to Group Companies 52 328

Total Equity in Group Accounts 40 506

Allocated to:

Equity Holders of Parent Company 29 737

Non-Controlling Interest 10 769

Amounts in NOK 1000 Kaydence Pharma AS

Revenues 2 008

COGS -370

Other Income 0

Other Operating Expenses -4 191

Finance Charges -1 243

Profit for the Year -3 796

Allocated to:

Equity Holders of Parent Company -1 862

Non-Controlling Interest -1 934

Summarized statement of profit or loss (from July 1st, to December 31st, 2020):

Long-term loan receivable from Kaydence:

The Group had a loan receivable from Kaydence at December 31st, 2019 of NOK 53.6 million. The Group had previously recorded impair-
ments of NOK 21.7 million on the loan receivable in 2018 and 2019.

In connection with obtaining a controlling share in Kaydence, the Group reversed the previously recorded impairments of NOK 21.7 million 
in the statement of profit and loss in 2020 prior to the acquisition on June 30th, 2020.

2019:

Investment in associate:

Status of investment at year-end 2019 

At the end of 2019, Kaydence Pharma AS experienced financial distress and started the process of winding down operations and laying off 
staff. The Company still holds several patents related to Vitamin K2 that is licensed to Nattopharma. The recovery of the loan receivable is 
uncertain and was evaluated for impairment under IFRS 9. 

In 2019, Nattopharma recorded an impairment of NOK 16 million reducing the carrying amount of the long-term receivable from Kaydence 
to NOK 31.9 million at December 31st, 2019.
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NOTE 25 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On February 15th, 2021 Compagnie des Levures Lesaffre and NattoPharma announced that Lesaffre will launch an offer to acquire all 
outstanding shares of NattoPharma through a voluntary cash offer of NOK 35 per share. The Board of Directors of NattoPharma has unan-
imously decided to recommend the shareholders of the Company to accept the offer. 

On the same day, February 15th, 2021, NattoPharma announced its intention to launch a cash tender offer to acquire 100% of the shares 
of Kaydence Pharma AS at NOK 5 per share. At the time NattoPharma owned a total of 3 000 000 Shares in Kaydence Pharma, equivalent 
to 54.15 % of Kaydence Pharma’s equity.

On March 23rd, 2021 Lesaffre announced the completion of their voluntary offer to acquire shares in NattoPharma where they have re-
ceived acceptances bringing them to an ownership of more than 76% of the Company.

That same day NattoPharma announced the completion of the cash tender offer to acquire all shares in Kaydence Pharma. NattoPharma 
as of March 31st, 2020 owns more than 95% of the shares in Kaydence Pharma.

On April 20th, 2021 Lesaffre launched it mandatary offer of NOK 35 per share. The offer period closes on May 18th, 2021.

It is the assessment of the Board of Directors that none of the events have a material impact on the company’s financial position as at 
December 31st, 2020.

NOTE 23 SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The company’s shares are not divided into share classes. All shares have the same right to dividend and equal voting rights.

Overview of 20 largest shareholders as at December 31st, 2020:

Shareholders Name Number of Shares % of Total

Pro AS 1) 2 701 310 13.61%

Kappa Bioscience AS 2 032 721 10.24%

TG Montgomery AS 2) 4) 1 735 122 8.74%

Synergia Life Science PTY Ltd. 1 360 000 6.85%

Bohan & Co AS 2) 1 298 455 6.54%

Life Science Sweden AB 647 654 3.26%

Försäkringsaktiebolaget Avanza 615 869 3.10%

Jan Fredrik Bjerkenes Holding AS 472 477 2.38%

Carl AF Petersen 450 000 2.27%

Patrycja Karolina Ratusinska 2) 350 000 1.76%

Trygve Nielsen 349 000 1.76%

Cinco Invest AS 3) 300 000 1.51%

Stefan Hallden 292 010 1.47%

Erik Øyen 253 000 1.27%

Stein Ole Vrenne 212 135 1.07%

Nicoline Invest AS 4) 200 000 1.01%

MP Games Aktiebolag 199 643 1.01%

Jan Marian Markiewicz 137 500 0.69%

Perkhed Company AB 125 540 0.63%

Trapesa AS 123 235 0.62%

Total Shares Top-20 13 855 671 69.82%

Other Shareholders 5) 5 987 762 30.18%

Total Issued Number of Shares 19 843 433 100.00% 

NOTE 24 GOING CONCERN

The Board refers to that the company’s balance sheet shows a positive equity of NOK 181.9 million as at December 31st, 2020. The oper-
ating results of the Group has improved significantly compared to 2019. In 2020, the Group generated NOK 25.4 million from operations. 
The cash balance at December 31st, 2020 was NOK 42.5 million.

The Group expects to generate sufficient cash flows to finance operations and to meet financial obligations for at least 12 months from 
the date of the financial statements.

1) Sjur Thorsheim, Board Member.
2) Frode M. Bohan, Chairman of the Board (owns/controls about 34.5% of the outstanding shares in Immunopharma AS, the parent company of 
TG Montgomery AS).
3) Kim Øien, deputy Board Member (owns/controls about 16.6% of the outstanding shares in Immunopharma AS).
4) Other shareholders include Nattopharma ASA’s 7 143 treasury stock.
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Revenue

Operating Revenue 4 61 472 51 749

Other Income 4 28 071 17 497

Total Operating and Other Revenue 89 543 69 247

Operating Expenses

Cost of Goods Sold -45 650 -40 934

Personnel Cost 5 -25 949 -15 232

Depreciation and Amortisation 9, 10 -1 369 -1 428

Other Operating Expenses 7 -17 047 -13 425

Total Operating Expenses -90 015 -71 018

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) -472 -1 771

Financial Items

Interest Income 2 778 3 160

Interest Expense -477 -684

Reversal of Impairment/(Impairment) of Investment in Associate 21 21 723 -33 978

Other Financial Income and Expense 411 176

Net Financial Items 24 435 -31 327

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 23 963 -33 098

Income Tax Expense 8 28 820 0

Net Profit/(Loss) 52 783 -33 098

Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Net Profit/(Loss) 52 783 -33 098

Translation Difference 0 0

Total Other Comprehensive Income 52 783 -33 098

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 52 783 -33 098

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Parent Company Financial Statement
Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Assets

Noncurrent Assets

Intangible Assets

Patents and Other Rights 9 464 586

Other Intangible Assets 9 25 290 18 259

Deferred Tax Assets 8 28 820 0

Total Intangible Assets 54 574 18  845

Tangible Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 10 271 135

Right-of-Use Assets 16 728 1 409

Total Tangible Assets 999 1 545

Financial Assets

Investment in Subsidiaries 11 58 513 54 513

Long Term Receivables from Subsidiaries 21 52 589 31 907

Total Financial Assets 111 102 86 420

Total Non-Current Assets 166 675 106 810

Current Assets

Inventory 12 18 846 12 474

Trade Receivables 13 5 824 2 689

Receivable from Group Companies 13 14 825 20 645

Other Receivables 13 8 209 11 709

Cash and Cash Equivalents 14 18 977 8 911

Total Current Assets 66 681 56 428

Total Assets 233 356 163 238

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share Capital 15 59 509 54 518

Share Premium Reserve 15 131 902 118 625

Non-issued Equity 0 5 003

Retained Earnings 10 258 -44 018

Total Equity 201 669 134 128

Non-Current Liabilities

Lease Liabilities 16 0 800

Total Non-Current Liabilities 0 800

Current Liabilities

Trade Payables 14 745 18 327

Borrowings 17 6 000 6 000

Financial Lease Liabilities 16 784 662

Other Current Liabilities 18 10 158 3 320

Total Current Liabilities 31 687 28 310

Total Liabilities 31 687 29 109

Total Equity and Liabilities 233 356 163 238

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Amounts in NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 23 963 -33 098

Depreciation and Amortisation 1 369 1 428

Other Non-Cash Items -21 540 34 709

Changes in Working Capital Items

Inventory -6 372 -10 842

Trade Receivables -4 524 -1 538

Trade Payables -3 582 8 286

Other Current Items 17 546 12 353

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 6 860 11 298

Cash Flow from Investment Activities

Investment in Property, Plant and Equipment -228 -96

Investment in Intangible Assets -7 493 -14 387

Loans to Associate -1 634 -5 000

Net Cash Flows from Investment Activities -9 355 -19 483

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Net Proceeds from Share Issue 13 265 5 003

Net Proceeds from Short Term Loans 0 6 000

Payment on Leases -704 -866

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 12 561 10 137

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 10 066 1 952

Foreign Currency Effect 0 0

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per January 1st 8 911 6 959

Cash and Cash Equivalents as per December 31st 18 977 8 911

Amounts in NOK 1000 Share Capital Own Shares Share 
Premium

Non-issued 
Equity

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Equity

Equity as per January 1st, 2019 54 539 -21 118 625 0 -11 758 165 385

Effect from Implementation of IFRS 16 108 108

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Period

-33 098 -33 098

Equity Based Remuneration 731 731

Share Issue Including Transaction 
Costs

5 003 5 003

Equity as per December 31st, 2019 54 539 -21 118 625 5 003 -44 018 134 128

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Period

52 783 52 783

Equity Based Remuneration 1 493 1 493

Share Issue Including Transaction 
Costs

4 991 13 277 -5 003 13 265

Equity as per December 31st, 2020 59 530 -21 131 902 0 10 258 201 669

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Oslo, April 29th, 2021
Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA

Frode M. Bohan
Chairman

Stefan Halldén
Board Member

Sjur Thorsheim
Board Member

Katarzyna Maresz
Board Member

Annette Elmqvist 
Board Member

Kjetil Ramsøy
NattoPharma CEO

SIGNATURES
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Amount in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Salary Cost 20 142 11 981

Employer Tax Cost 1 474 986

Employee Related Insurance 19 7

Pension Costs - Contribution Plans 503 316

Remuneration to the Board and Election Committee 1) 1 768 412

Share and Option Cost 832 731

Other Personnel Cost 1 211 799

Total Personnel Cost 25 949 15 232

Number of Man-Years 16.2 13.9

NOTE 5 SALARY, PERSONNEL COST AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Amount in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Recharges of Personnel Cost 370 459

Recharges of Other OpEx 354 154

Intercompany Revenue 27 347 16 884

Total Other Revenue 28 071 17 497

NOTE 4 OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE CONT.

Number of contracted personnel included in the man years was 8.8 in 2020 (2019: 6.9).

Specification of salary and remuneration to senior executives is discussed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The total personnel cost include cost for recharged personnel cost as disclosed in note 4. Total recharged personnel cost for 2020 amount 
to NOK 0.4 million (2019: NOK 0.5 million).

The company is required to have a compulsory pension plan in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Compulsory Occupational Pensions 
(“Compulsory Occupational Pensions Act”). The company has signed a defined contribution pension agreement with DNB ASA, which goes 
beyond the requirements of this Act. The agreement is based on a premium payment of 7.0% for income between 1G and 7.1G (G = 101 
351) and 13.0% of income between 7.1 and 12G. The scheme includes a disability insurance. In addition, a group life scheme has been 
agreed based on a replacement equivalent to 15G at death. Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, the Board has 
prepared a statement on the determination of salary and other remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives.

NOTE 6 SHARE BASED REMUNERATION

See note 6 in the consolidated financial statements for information.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The company is a publicly traded limited liability company established in 2004, and the head office has at Lilleakerveien 2B, Oslo, as of 
December 31st, 2020. The product is the MenaQ7® brand, which is based on a substance Menaquinone-7, the natural vitamin K2 as well as 
a synthetically manufactured product that is developed and ready for commercial production from the last quarter of 2016.

The company’s shares were listed on Euronext Expand (previously Oslo Børs Axess) per. January 30th, 2008. 

The accounts were approved by the Board on April 29th, 2021.

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The annual accounts have been prepared for the company for 2020 with comparative figures for 2019 for the profit and loss account, the 
balance sheet, the comprehensive income, the cash flow statement and the change in equity for the company. These principles have been 
applied consistently throughout all periods presented, unless otherwise stated in the description.

2.1 – BASIS FOR ACCOUNTING PREPARATION

The company accounts of NattoPharma ASA have been prepared in accordance with EU-approved IFRSs and related interpretations, as 
well as the additional Norwegian disclosure requirements that follow from the Accounting Act, Stock Exchange Regulations and Stock 
Exchange Rules, which will be applied as at December 31st, 2020. The accounts have been prepared based on historical cost, with the ex-
ception of financial derivatives that are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Changes in accounting principles due to new or amended standards are performed retroactively unless otherwise specifically determined 
by a current standard. Recurring effect requires that results from previous periods and opening balance for such period have been restat-
ed.

2.2 – SUBSIDIARIES

As of December 31st, 2020, NattoPharma ASA has three subsidiaries, NattoPharma USA, Inc. located in the United States and NattoPharma 
R&D Ltd., which is registered in Cyprus, and Kaydence Pharma AS located in Norway.

Subsidiaries are entered in the balance sheet at cost less impairment.

Otherwise, see notes 2 and 3 in the consolidated financial statements for the company’s other important accounting principles.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Amount in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Europe 29 210 14 022

Rest of the World 12 703 10 361

Intercompany Revenue 19 559 27 366

Total Operating Revenue 61 472 51 749

NOTE 4 OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE

NOTE 3 IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND DISCRETIONARY ASSESSMENT

Please see note 3 in the consolidated financial statements.

Operating Revenue
The table below show Operating Revenue broken down by the geographical areas where the Group sells its goods. The company’s opera-
tions are primarly located in Norway and Poland.

Sale of products between companies in the Group are carried out based on a cost plus method and in accordance with the arm’s length 
principle.

The intercompany revenue arises mainly from sales of product to Nattopharma Inc. 

Other Income
Activities that are not allocated to Operating Income are presented as Other Revenue. This primarly involves recharges to Kaydence Phar-
ma AS for services provided and some other shared expenses and projects.

Other income to group companies include recharges of NOK 23.1 million to Nattopharma Inc, NOK 3.2 million to Nattopharma R&D Ltd. 
and NOK 1.0 million to Kaydence Pharma AS (for the period of July 1st to December 31st).

Other Revenue also includes allocation of Operating Expenses within the Group. Operating Expenses are allocated between the entities in 
the Group based partly on External Operating Revenue in the entities and partly on a functional analysis of which entity should incur the 
expenses.
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Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Intangible Asset 27 -611

Property, Plant and Equipment 17 21

Deferred Taxable Gain/Loss -5 902 -7 378

Impairment of Long-Term Receivable 0 4 779

Leases 12 12

Accrued Expenses 168 0

Tax Loss Carryforward 34 498 37 722

Net Deferred Tax Asset 28 820 34 545

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Result Before Taxes 23 963 -33 098

Nominal Tax Rate 22% 22%

Expected Tax Expense 5 273 (7 282)

Tax Effect on Non-Deductible Expenses 1 130 34

Tax Effect of SkatteFunn (676) (1 100)

Prior Period Adjustment 0 3 961

Recognized Deferred Tax Asset from Prior Years (34 546) 0

Change in Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets 0 4 387

Taxes for the Year (28 820) 0

Nattopharma has generated taxable profit for 3 consecutive years for the period ended December 31st, 2020. The Company considers 
it probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be generated to utilize the previously unrecognized deferred tax assets. In 2020, the 
Company recognized deferred tax assets of NOK 28.8 million. 

Tax effect of temporary differences:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Tax Payable 0 0

Deferred Tax -28 820 0

Income Tax Expense/(Income) -28 820 0

Tax expense for the year:

NOTE 8 TAX

Specification of remuneration to the auditor:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Statutory Audit 615 500

Tax Advice 0 49

Other Services 47 12

Total Remuneration to the Auditor 662 560
NOTE 9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Amounts in NOK 1000 Software Acquired 
Rights

Patents Capitalized 
Develop-

ment Costs

Assets 
Under Con-

struction

Total Other 
Intangible 

Assets

Acquisition Cost January 1st, 2019 2 204 1 908 1 798 0 2 845 8 755

Acquisitions 102 0 14 284 14 386

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2019 2 306 1 908 1 798 0 17 129 23 141

Acquisitions 7 493 7 493

Transfer 23 895 -23 895 0

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Acquisition Cost December 31st, 2020 2 306 1 908 1 798 23 895 727 30 634

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2019 724 1 201 1 798 0 0 3 723

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 453 122 575

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2019 1 177 1 323 1 798 0 0 4 298

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 461 122 583

Disposals 0

Exchange Rate Changes 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2020 1 638 1 445 1 798 0 0 4 881

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2020 668 464 0 23 895 727 25 754

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2019 1 129 586 0 0 17 129 18 845

The Company uses linear depreciation for all intangible assets.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Property Expenses 302 161

Travel Cost 166 1 219

Sales and Marketing Cost 1 041 1 442

Audit, Legal and Accounting Expenses 6 132 1 293

Research and Development Cost 5 926 6 180

Other Operating Costs 3 479 3 130

Total Other Operating Expenses 17 047 13 425

NOTE 7 SPECIFICATION OF OTHER OPERATING COSTS

The following table shows a reconciliation between expected tax based on profit before tax and nominal tax rate and actual tax expense/
(income):

NOTE 8 TAX CONT.
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Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

External Trade Receivables 5 824 2 689

Group Trade Receivables 14 825 20 645

Other Receivables:

SkatteFunn and Other Grants 2 864 5 093

Prepayments 2 439 1 898

Other Receivables 2 906 4 718

Total Other Receivables 8 209 11 709

Total Trade and Other Receivables 28 858 35 043

NOTE 13 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES

Group receivables consists of the following receivables:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Group Long-term Receivables 52 589 0

Long Term Receivables from Subsidiaries 52 589 0

NOTE 14 BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31st, 2020 includes payroll tax deductions of NOK 546 801 (2019: NOK 663 615). Furthermore, 
the company has provided security for rent with NOK 439 436 and USD 55 584.

NOTE 15 SHARE CAPITAL

Reference is made to note 16 in the consolidated accounts.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020

NattoPharma USA, Inc. 10 326

NattoPharma R&D Ltd. 3 110

Kaydence Pharma AS 1 389

Total 14 825

For disclosure of NattoPharma’s credit risk and handling, see note 20 in the consolidated financial statements.

The company has the following long-term loan receivables from Kaydence Pharma AS, a group company at the end of 2020:

In 2019, the receivable from Kaydence Pharma AS of NOK 31.9 million (after deducting impairment) was classified as receivable from as-
sociate.

Amounts in NOK 1000 Hardware Refurbishment 
Rented Offices

Lab Equipment 
and Tools

Total Fixed 
Assets

Aquisition Cost January 1st, 2019 143 162 0 305

Acquisitions 40 11 45 96

Disposals 0

Aquisition Cost December 31st, 2019 184 173 45 401

Acquisitions 221 7 228

Disposals 0

Aquisition Cost December 31st, 2020 405 180 45 629

Accumulated Depreciation January 1st, 2019 119 78 0 197

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 21 46 3 69

Disposals 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2019 139 123 3 266

Amortization and Depreciation for the Year 61 22 9 92

Disposals 0

Accumulated Depreciation December 31st, 2020 200 145 12 358

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2020 204 34 33 271

Balance Sheet Value December 31st, 2019 44 49 42 135

Balance Sheet Value January 1st, 2019 24 84 0 109

The company uses straight-line depreciation for all tangible fixed assets. The economic life of the assets is calculated as:

• Computer equipment: linear 3 years
• Fixtures and tools: linear 5 years

NOTE 10 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

NOTE 11 SUBSIDIARIES/ASSOCIATE

Ownership

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

NattoPharma USA, Inc., Edison, NJ, USA 100% 100%

NattoPharma R&D Ltd., Nicosia, Cyprus 100% 100%

Kaydence Pharma AS 54.15% 46.41%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Finished Goods 18 846 12 474

Total 18 846 12 474

NOTE 12 INVENTORIES

Inventory is booked at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
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NOTE 19 FINANCIAL RISK

The company is exposed to various types of financial risk, all of which coincide with the group as a whole. For more detailed information 
about the different financial risks, see note 20 in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 20 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Reference is made to note 21 in the consolidated accounts.

NOTE 18 OTHER SHORT-TERM DEBT

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Accrued Costs 6 306 1 850

Accrued Interest 361 358

Social Security Accrual on Options 763 0

Public Duties Payable 655 377

Other Short-Term Debt 2 073 735

Total 10 158 3 320

Amounts in NOK 1000 Amount of Security Carrying Amount of 
Pledged Security

Property, Plant and Equipment 10 000 271

Inventory 10 000 18 846

Trade Receivables 10 000 20 649

Shares in Kaydence Pharma AS (54.15%) NA 4 000

Total 30 000 43 766

NOTE 17 BORROWINGS

The Company had the following outstanding interest-bearing loans at December 31st:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Interest Maturity 2020 2019

Pro AS Fixed 6% 07.01.2021 6 000 6 000

Total 6 000 6 000

The loan was extended in the beginning of January 2021 with new maturity date on January 7th, 2022. The interest rate on the extension was 
reduced to 3% pa. All of the principal is due on the maturity date. The loan is denominated in NOK and is unsecured.

The loan is from Pro AS which is a shareholder in Nattopharma ASA.

Credit facility:

In October 2020, Nattopharma ASA entered into a credit facility agreement of NOK 10 million with DnB. The agreement runs for a period of 
1 year (expires in October 2021) but with the possibility of annual renewals. The interest term on the drawn amount is NIBOR 1 month in-
terest plus a credit margin of 2.5%. Additionally, there is a provision premium of 1% of the credit facility amount per annum (NOK 100 000). 

There are a number of covenants including a minimum annual EBITDA (Adj.) for the Group. The EBITDA (Adj.) requirement for a rolling 12 
month period is NOK 20 million.

The credit facility is secured by the following assets:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Office Leases Total

January 1st, 2019 2 170 2 170

Additions 23 23

Depreciation -784 -784

As at December 31st, 2019 1 409 1 409

Additions 10 10

Depreciation -691 -691

As at December 31st, 2020 728 728

NOTE 16 LEASES

The Company has a number of lease agreements, primarily for office leases. 

The rollforward of the carrying amount of the Company’s Right-Of-Use (“ROU”) assets is as follows:

The office lease had a remaining term of 3 years at the date of implementation January 1st, 2019. The ROU is depreciated over the 3 year 
lease term.

The carrying amount of the Company’s lease liabilies  and the movements during the period is shown in the following table:

Amounts in NOK 1000 Office Leases Total

As at January 1st, 2019 2 170 23

Additions 23 23

Accretion of Interest 134 134

Payments -865 -865

As at December 31st, 2019 1 462 1 462

Additions 10 10

Accretion of Interest 82 82

Payments -770 -770

As at December 31st, 2020 784 784

Total expense related to leases:

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Depreciation Expense of Right-of-Use Assets 691 784

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 82 134

Expense Related to Short-Term Releases 0 0

Total Amount Recognized in Profit or Loss 773 918

Total payments related to leases were NOK 770 000 in 2020 and NOK 865 000 in 2019.



90ANNUAL REPORT 2020 NATTOPHARMA89 THE NUMBERSPARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTSBOD REPORT CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS APMAUDITOR’S REPORT

The Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge, that the financial statements for the period 
January 1st to December 31st, 2020, have been prepared in accordance with current applicable accounting standards, and give a true and 
fair view of the organization’s and the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss of the entity and the Group taken as 
a whole. They also confirm that the Board of Directors’ report includes a true and fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the entity and the Group, together with a description of the principal risk and uncertainties facing the entity 
and the Group.

STATEMENT FROM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CEO

Frode M. Bohan
Chairman

Oslo, April 29th, 2021
Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA

Stefan Halldén
Board Member

Sjur Thorsheim
Board Member

Katarzyna Maresz
Board Member

Annette Elmqvist 
Board Member

Kjetil Ramsøy
NattoPharma CEO

Reference is made to note 20 in the consolidated accounts.

NOTE 22 SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The Board refers to that the company’s balance sheet shows a positive equity of NOK 201.7 million per December 31st, 2020. Through 2020, 
the company has implemented many profitability improvement measures, as well as improved position on investing in working capital. 
The Company generated NOK 6.9 million in cash from operations in 2020. Given the company’s positive development in 2020, the Board 
considers that the company’s financial position is satisfactory and the accounts have been prepared on the basis of continued operations.

NOTE 23 GOING CONCERN

NOTE 21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

In 2020, Nattopharma ASA converted NOK 4 million of the long-term receivable from Kaydence Pharma AS to obtain a total of 54.15% of 
the outstanding shares and thus control over the company. Kaydence is now a subsidiary of Nattopharma ASA. 

The carrying amount of the investment in Kaydence is NOK 4 million. 

For further description of the transaction, see note 22 of the consolidated.

Description of the activities of signficant associate
Kaydence Pharma AS has its headquarter at Lysaker outside Oslo, Norway, and the Company holds a number of key patents related to the 
production of Synthetic vitamin K2 and other vitamin K2 patents. 

Kaydence Pharma AS has a long-term liability to NattoPharma ASA per December 31st, 2020 of NOK 52.6 million (2019: 53.6 million), which 
is representing a seller’s credit for the acquisition of the pharma business in December 2017. The amounts include accrued interest re-
ceivable. 

According to the original Loan Agreement between NattoPharma ASA and Kaydence Pharma, the credit expires within 7 years from date 
of payment and the liability should be repaid over 6 yearly instalments starting at the second anniversary date for the loan agreement. 
PharmaCo will have the obligation to perform early repayments in the event of capital injections to the company where NattoPharma will 
be entitled to 20% of the proceeds, limited to NOK 10 million per event until the whole loan balance is repaid.

NOTE 24 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On February 15th, 2021 Compagnie des Levures Lesaffre and NattoPharma announced that Lesaffre will launch an offer to acquire all 
outstanding shares of NattoPharma through a voluntary cash offer of NOK 35 per share. The Board of Directors of NattoPharma has unan-
imously decided to recommend the shareholders of the Company to accept the offer. 

On the same day, February 15th, 2021, NattoPharma announced its intention to launch a cash tender offer to acquire 100% of the shares 
of Kaydence Pharma AS at NOK 5 per share. At the time NattoPharma owned a total of 3 000 000 Shares in Kaydence Pharma, equivalent 
to 54.15 % of Kaydence Pharma’s equity.

On March 23rd, 2021 Lesaffre announced the completion of their voluntary offer to acquire shares in NattoPharma where they have re-
ceived acceptances bringing them to an ownership of more than 76% of the Company.

That same day NattoPharma announced the completion of the cash tender offer to acquire all shares in Kaydence Pharma. NattoPharma 
as of March 31st, 2020 owns more than 95% of the shares in Kaydence Pharma.

On April 20th, 2021 Lesaffre launched it mandatary offer of NOK 35 per share. The offer period closes on May 18th, 2021.

It is the assessment of the Board of Directors that none of the events have a material impact on the company’s financial position as at 
December 31st, 2020.
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To the General Meeting of Nattopharma ASA 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Nattopharma ASA, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Nattopharma ASA (the Company), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of profit and loss, statement of other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Nattopharma ASA and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of profit and loss, statement of other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 
• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 
• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 

31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.  

The key audit matters identified in our audit are:  
• Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 
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Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 

As disclosed in note 3 and 10, the Group has recognized 
goodwill of NOK 7,901 thousand and other intangible 
assets of NOK 86,365 thousand.  
 
Intangible assets are assessed for impairment at the end 
of each reporting period if impairment indicators are 
identified. In addition, goodwill is assessed annually for 
impairment using a value-in-use basis. 
 
To assess recoverability of these non-current assets, 
management must make assumptions about future 
revenues, discount rates as well as future operating 
costs and margins. 
 
Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in the 
forecasting and discounting of future cash flows, and the 
level of management judgement involved, this has been 
identified as a key audit matter.  

We assessed Nattopharma’s impairment process and 
tested design and implementation of relevant controls 
established related to the estimates and judgements.  
 
We obtained the valuation model and challenged 
management’s key assumptions used in the 
impairment model. In particular;  
  
• the growth rate in revenues; 
• the future operating costs and margins; and 
• the discount rate used 

 
We validated the mathematical accuracy of cash flow 
models.  
 
We also considered the disclosures provided by the 
Group in relation to the impairment testing.  

 
Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in the annual 
report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (Management) are responsible for the preparation in 
accordance with law and regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
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To the General Meeting of Nattopharma ASA 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Nattopharma ASA, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Nattopharma ASA (the Company), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of profit and loss, statement of other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Nattopharma ASA and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of profit and loss, statement of other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 
• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 
• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 

31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.  

The key audit matters identified in our audit are:  
• Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 
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material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally accepted in 
Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves a true and fair view. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report and the statements on Corporate Governance and Corporate Social 
Responsibility 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information presented in 
the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on Corporate Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility 
concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is 
consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations. 
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Opinion on Registration and Documentation 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have considered 
necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance 
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is our opinion that management has 
fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration and documentation of the Company’s 
accounting information in accordance with the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in 
Norway. 

 
Oslo, 29 April 2021 
Deloitte AS 
 
 
 
 
EEssppeenn  JJoohhaannsseenn  
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway) 
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The financial information for the NattoPharma Group is prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In 
addition to the ordinary financial performance measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, management believes that alternative perfor-
mance measures (APM) which arenot defined in any IFRS standards, provide additional information which is useful to both management 
and shareholders in enhancing the understanding of the Group’s performance. 

NattoPharma use the following APMs:

Product Revenue and Gross Profit
NattoPharma’s main source of Revenue is sale of products. Other Revenue as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Income are largely 
related to re-charges of personnel cost and other operating expenses to Kaydence Pharma AS. Hence, the most useful and reliable way to 
measure NattoPharma’s sales development is by evaluating Product Revenues. 

The Gross Profit Margin is the product sales revenue less the cost of goods sold, so the residual profit after selling a product and subtract-
ing the costs associated with its production and sale.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Total Operating and Other Revenue

Operating Revenue 214 468 127 119

Other Revenue 3 500 4 031

Less Recharges of OpEx -3 500 -4 031

Operating Revenue (Adj.) 214 468 127 119

Cost of Goods Sold -123 127 -76 232

Total Cost of Goods Sold -123 127 -76 232

Gross Profit Operating Revenue (Adj.) 91 341 50 887

Gross Margin Operating Revenue (Adj.) 42.6% 40.0%

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Operating Expenses

Personnel Cost -39 274 -30 942

Less Recharges 3 232 3 869

Less Non-Cash Cost for Options Program, incl. AGA 2 256 731

Personnel Cost (Adj.) -33 786 -26 342

Other Operating Expenses -22 645 -16 507

Less Recharges 268 162

Special Items 2 106 0

Other Operating Expenses (Adj.) -20 271 -16 345

Operating Expenses (Adj.) -54 057 -42 687

As a % of Operating Revenue (Adj.) 25.2% 33.6%

Operating Expenses
NattoPharma use an APM on Operating Expenses due to the re-charges to Kaydence Pharma AS presented on a gross basis under Other 
Revenue, offset on Personnel Cost and Other Operating Expenses. Non-cash cost for options and shares are also adjusted in this APM. 
This is the most useful and reliable APM for NattoPharma as it shows the underlying operational development in expenses, and which is 
comparable between periods.

Alternative Performance Measures

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Total Operating and Other Revenue 217 968 131 150

Cost of Goods Sold -123 127 -76 232

Personnel Cost -39 274 -30 942

Other Operating Expenses -22 645 -16 507

Less Non-cash Cost for Options Program 2 256 731

Special Items 2 106 0

EBITDA (Adj.) 37 284 8 200

AS % of Operating Revenue (Adj.) 17.4% 6.5%

EBITDA (Adj.)
EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization and measures profitability before the impact of financing 
methods, income taxes, depreciation of capital assets and amortization of intangible assets. Adjusted EBITDA is used to evaluate profit-
ability from operating business activities and so excludes the non-cash cost related to the options program. EBITDA is the closest APM to 
cash flow in the Group. The Group has no long-term debt or other financial instruments significantly impacting net cash flow. In the current 
stage of significant revenue growth, cash generation is pivotal to support future growth, hence the use of this APM.

Amounts in NOK 1000 2020 2019

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 25 411 6 366

Investment in Property, Plant and Equipment -272 -187

Investment in Intangible Assets -8 064 -14 716

Free Cash Flow (FCF) 17 075 -8 537

Free Cash Flow
Free Cash Flow (FCF) is defined as the Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities adjusted for capital expenditures and proceed from sales of 
tangible and intangible assets. FCF represents the cash the business generates after accounting for cash outflows to support operations 
and maintain its capital assets.


